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To Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to
present to you the annual results of China Rare Earth Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Since the initial outbreak, the COVID-19 virus has continued to
spread across China and the world. Governments around the world
have implemented lockdown measures which has adversely
impacted various industries including rare earth and refractory
materials. At many companies, production has come to a halt and
commercial activities have rapidly decelerated. Fortunately, China
demonstrated outstanding pandemic control and prevention
measures which has allowed the economy to recover relatively
quickly and domestic demand to rebound swiftly, even as the export
market remained relatively subdued. In 2020, China’s export volume
of rare earth dropped to a five-year low, and rare earth products
were increasingly used for China’s domestic industrial consumption.
In addition, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
and the Ministry of Natural Resources continued to regulate the
total volume of rare earth mining in order to control the supply of
rare earth and stabilize the market. As for the refractory materials
products, they are being used as raw materials for producing steel,
non-ferrous metals, glass, cement, ceramics, petrochemicals,
machinery, boiler, light industry, electric power, military industry
and other industries, and have been affected by the pandemic as
well as the work and production resumption patterns of various
industries, which led to a contraction in production and sales scale

and reduction in product prices compared with the previous year.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded revenue
of approximately HK$1,112,317,000, up by about 9% when
compared to that of HK$1,018,535,000 in 2019. Revenue from the
Group’s rare earth products rose by about 17% to approximately
HK$809,120,000 from HK$691,918,000 in 2019, and accounted for
about 73% of total revenue of the Group. As for refractory
products, revenue decreased by about 7% to HK$303,197,000 from
HK$326,617,000 in 2019, accounting for about 27% of total
revenue of the Group. The Group’s overall gross profit margin was

about 7%, which is at a similar level to the margin in 2019.

During the year, the pandemic posed several challenges to the
domestic and global economy, as well as the rare earth business
environment. Nonetheless, with rare earth being a strategic resource
for the country, the Group closely monitored the development of
the pandemic and adjusted business strategies accordingly.
Meanwhile, pandemic control measures have been set up to
safeguard the health of employees. Still the Group has suffered a
decline in results due to the impact of the pandemic. While the
Group continued to record a net profit of approximately
HK$20,608,000, continuing from a profitable 2019, earnings per
share has dropped to approximately HK 0.84 cents (2019: HK 1.66

cents).

BUSINESS REVIEW
Rare Earth Business

At the beginning of 2020, China’s rare earth operations came to a
halt due to the severe impact brought upon by the pandemic. The
market gradually recovered when the pandemic was under control
later. In the wake of work and production resumption and economic
recovery, the demand for rare earth materials from industries such
as new energy vehicles, wind power, electronic products and

medical equipment increased, leading to a rise in the market price.

Annual Report 2020 4
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The pandemic has also brought about a drastic decline in the import
volume of overseas rare earth materials, which led to a reduction in
the smelting volume of rare earth in China. The balance between
supply and demand is also impacted by the reduction in rare earth
supply. In particular, with Myanmar being the most significant
importer of heavy rare earth minerals of China, rare earth exports
from Myanmar to China were significantly reduced due to the
impact of the pandemic and its internal political instability. This led
to a hike in the price of rare earth products in China. In addition,
the Chinese government has actively launched new infrastructure
projects across the country to support the domestic price
performance of rare earth products. As the Chinese government
made adjustments to support the development of the rare earth
industry, the rare earth industry works toward high-quality
development. With policies support for the development of the rare
earth industry, the price of rare earth in the domestic market has

improved steadily during the year.

In 2020, the Group's revenue from the rare earth segment was
approximately HK$809,120,000, denoting an increase of about
17% when compared with last year. The average prices of heavy
rare earth sold by the Group that can be used in magnetic materials
such as terbium oxide and dysprosium oxide have increased by
about 30% and 5% year-on-year, while the average price of light
rare earth that can be used in magnetic materials such as
praseodymium neodymium oxide was at a similar level to the
previous year. The average prices of other light rare earth such as
lanthanum oxide and cerium oxide have decreased by about 15%
when compared with the previous year. This shows that rare earth
demand continued to concentrate on those elements that can be

used in magnetic materials.

During the year, the Group sold around 1,400 tonnes of rare earth
products, up by about 20% when compared with last year. The rare
earth products sold by the Group were mainly praseodymium,
neodymium, terbium and dysprosium through trading. The Group
continued to focus on the production of high-end products such as
rare earth oxides with special granularity, propelling itself into the
high-value-added rare earth industry segment. The gross profit
margin of the Group's rare earth segment was about 3% in 2020,

which is at a similar level to last year.
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In the aspect of market distribution, due to the relatively slow
recovery of overseas economic activities, the Group’s rare earth
products were sold in a more concentrated manner domestically
when compared to previous years. The domestic sales accounted for
about 98% of the Group’s rare earth revenue in the year, while

Japan, Europe and other markets accounted for the remaining 2%.

Refractory Materials Business

In 2020, the Group's refractory materials segment posted revenue
of approximately HK$303,197,000, decreased by about 7% when
compared with 2019. The segmental gross profit margin was 17%,

which is at a similar level to last year.

During the year, all industries in China were poorly affected by the
pandemic. In particular, the refractory materials industry saw a
decline due to the weakening demand within the steel, non-ferrous
metal, construction materials and petrochemicals industries. The
export market has been hit particularly hard. Both the export
volume and trade amount of refractory materials recorded a decline
in China, putting pressure on the price of refractory materials
products. The Group continued to focus on improving product and
service quality to strengthen the trust of high-quality customers and
attract new customers who value quality. During the year, the
Group sold approximately 28,100 tonnes of refractory materials
products, which is at a similar level to last year. Average selling
prices of major products like fused magnesia-chrome bricks and
casting materials have decreased by 10-15% while that of
alumina-graphite bricks and high-temperature ceramics have
decreased by less than 10%. Revenue was approximately
HK$259,622,000, decreased by about 7% when compared with

2019. Gross profit margin has maintained at approximately 20%.

Annual Report 2020 4
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Regarding the magnesium grains business, given the
implementation of strict pandemic prevention and control measures
in Liaoning, the operation and production time of magnesium mines
within the province had significantly reduced. Since September
2020, Liaoning Province had commenced an all-round rectification
on the magnesium industry and passed the “Opinions on Propelling
Sustainable and Healthy Development of the Magnesium Industry”
((HEEZSEEFERREERMER) ). Later, Liaoning Provincial
Industry and Informatization Department issued the “Measures for
Management of the Whole Provincial Volume of Magnesium
((2EZEEEREARBEBEEIE) )

and the “Measures for Magnesium Mines Flotation and Capacity

Resources in the Province”

Replacement of Magnesium Grains Industry in Liaoning Province
LEBRTENEDITEERIRIDEE

7)) ), which strictly forbade the application of new establishment

(pilot scheme)” ( (==

or expansion of magnesium mines flotation and magnesium grains
projects. Although magnesium mines were gradually allowed to
reopen as the pandemic was mitigated subsequently, production
volume had reduced as the government requested mines to conduct
environmental protection screening and shorten their operating
hours. This has impacted the performance of the magnesium grains
business. In 2020, the Group sold approximately 19,300 tonnes of
magnesium grains products, denoting an increase of approximately
10% when compared with last year. Average product price has
decreased by approximately 30% year-on-year. Revenue gained
from the sale of magnesium grains for the whole year was
approximately HK$43,575,000, showing a decrease of about 10%
when compared with that of approximately HK$48,369,000 in
2019. Gross profit margin has declined to approximately 1%.

Due to the pandemic, the technical consultants from Japan were
unable to travel to China to offer production guidance, affected the
new business development. The prevalence of the pandemic
overseas has severely impacted export business, which led to a
significant reduction in exports. In 2020, Mainland China remained
the major market for the Group’s refractory materials business and
accounted for about 87% of the segment revenue. The Japanese
market accounted for about 10% while other markets in Asia,

South America and Europe accounted for the remaining 3%.
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PROSPECTS

Rare earth products are widely applied in traditional products as
well as modern high technology. The continual evolution of
technology has resulted in a wider application of rare earth
products. The invention of new products in multiple industries is
resulted from the rare earth application development. For instance,
transportation technology has evolved from the use of gasoline
vehicles to electronic vehicles or maglev trains; communication
technology has similarly transformed with smartphones replacing
fixed line telephones; energy production in many countries is seeing
a transition from thermal power to solar power or wind power.
Since the outbreak of the pandemic, people’s lifestyles changed in
response to the prevention and control of the pandemic, and due to
this, there has been a greater demand for smart and distanced
automation technology which will further propel the application of
rare earth in high technology development. The application of 5G
technology, new energy vehicles and smart chips are widely
anticipated and therefore the demand for rare earth will necessarily

increase, bringing a positive prospect to the Company.

With the escalating Sino-US competition and rare earth as an
important strategic resource, its supply and demand are attracting
more market attention. As the new U.S. administration takes office
in January 2021 and works towards reducing trade tensions
between China and the U.S., it is probable that R&D collaborations
between the two countries will be resuming, and it is also
conceivable that the demand and export for China’s rare earth
products will increase, benefiting China’s rare earth industry. Not
only is China the world’s largest rare earth exporter and possesses
the largest amount of rare earth resources and refining capacity, it
is also the world’s largest consumer of rare earth products.
Therefore, it can be concluded that China has immense influence
towards not only the supply and demand but also the price and

industrial development of rare earth products.
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In order to improve the prospects of the rare earth industry
development, China’s Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology issued the “Rare Earth Management Ordinance (Opinion
Seeking Draft)” ( < T EIREHI(EEKERTR)) ) in January 2021 to
regulate the efficiency of resource utilisation and the standard of
rare earth products according to the long term development
strategies, market demand, and existing issues within the industry.
The regulation suggests imposing more stringent control on the
import and export of rare earth materials. This demonstrates the
Chinese government’s desire to support the development of the
rare earth industry by tightening management, thus bringing a
positive outlook to the industry. The Group will continue to adhere
to national policies and working towards development of high

value-added products.

In addition, the China-Myanmar border has been frequently closed
since the first half of 2019, which affected heavy rare earth export
from Myanmar to China. Recent political turmoil in Myanmar has
further tightened the already unstable supply of heavy rare earth.
The Group will closely monitor the situation and adjust its operating
strategies according to the changes in market supply and demand,
and may allocate funds to the hoarding of inventory and stabilising
supply if necessary. Meanwhile, the Group will also evaluate
investment opportunities to pave the way for long term

development.

In terms of refractory materials, the mass vaccination campaign
across countries is expected to help control the pandemic and
ensure economy recovery. The recovery of industries such as steel,
non-ferrous metal, glass and cement will lead to a rebound in the
demand for refractory materials. In addition, the Group anticipates
that the tight travel restrictions and quarantine measures for
pandemic prevention will be loosen, allowing business partners in
Japan to send technical consultants to China to enhance the
cooperation in the production of high-quality monolithic refractory
materials and prefabricated parts, thereby contributing to the

Group's refractory materials business.
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In addition, the Group’s plan of acquisition of a magnesite mine in
Northeast China was affected not just by the pandemic but also the
changes in local government policy, which have a decisive impact
on the project implementation. Pursuing a goal of vertical
integration, the Group will continue to evaluate the feasibility of the

acquisition and seek for implementation of the project soon.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group continues to be prudent in making financial
arrangements to ensure it has adequate liquidity for business
development. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash and
bank deposits of approximately HK$1,740,255,000, where an
increase of HK$261,302,000 was recorded when compared to the
end of 2019. Trade receivables before impairment loss at the end of
2020 was approximately HK$494,392,000, representing an increase
of about 70% compared to HK$292,193,000 at the end of 2019.
Nevertheless, the aging analysis of trade receivables showed that
the increment was mainly focused in the range of less than six
months, hence the risk of bad debt is limited. Regarding
prepayments and deposits, it was significantly reduced from
HK$415,804,000 at the end of 2019 to HK$105,650,000 at the end
of 2020. Due to the changes in operating environment, the Group
did not immediately refill prepayments to some suppliers after they
were utilised to make room for flexible adjustment according to
market changes. As at 31 December 2020, net current assets of the
Group were approximately HK$2,534,086,000, representing an
increase of approximately HK$196,414,000 from HK$2,337,672,000
at the end of 2019. Total liabilities to total assets ratio was

maintained at 5%.
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During the year, the Group did not borrow any money from banks
or financial institutions. As at 31 December 2020, the Group has
maintained a financing facility at RMB150,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$178,232,000) with a domestic bank by pledging
certain leasehold land and buildings with carrying amount at
approximately HK$44,881,000. The facility has not been utilised yet.
Apart from that, the Group had no charge on other assets nor
holding of any financial derivative products. The Group was not
exposed to material interest rate risk. As for foreign exchange
exposure, most of the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
denominated in Renminbi, and the rest are in US dollars or Hong
Kong dollars. In the second half of 2020, the appreciation of
Renminbi did not cause significant fluctuation or impact on the
Group's results. The Group will continue to monitor the changes in

exchange rate and strive to reduce financial risk.

STAFF AND REMUNERATION

The Group continued to adjust its human resources according to its
business development needs. As at 31 December 2020, the Group
had approximately 400 employees of different levels, which is
similar when compared to that at the end of 2019. In order to
mitigate the burden of the pandemic, the Chinese government has
reduced or waived certain corporate obligations on social security
contributions for employees. During the year, the Group's staff
costs including directors’ emoluments amounted to approximately
HK$30,629,000, denoting a decrease of about 10% year-on-year.
The Group continued to provide on-the-job training and study
opportunities for employees to assist them in maintaining of
professional competence. The Group values the health and safety of

employees, and offers pandemic prevention materials to them.
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FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

CONCLUSION

Looking forward, the Group will adjust business strategies according
to the changes in circumstances, to move with the times, while its
dedication towards closely following the direction of national
policies remains unchanged. The Group hopes to continue to offer
high-quality products and services to customers, refine the
diversified development of products, move towards the high

technology field and strive to raise corporate value.

Finally, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to fellow board
members, the management team, business partners and staff for

their contribution.

Qian Yuanying
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Qian Yuanying, aged 62, is a founding member and the
chairman of the Group. Ms. Qian is responsible for the formulation
of the Group's overall business development policies. Ms. Qian is
recognised as a senior economist by Jiangsu Provincial Personnel
Department, and she is also qualified as a Chinese Career Manager.
Ms. Qian has over 30 years of experience in the rare earth and
refractory materials industries. Prior to the founding of the Group,
Ms. Qian was a high school teacher. Ms. Qian is also a director of
YY Holdings Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Ms. Qian is the wife of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, an executive director of
the Group, and the mother of Mr. Jiang Xin, the general manager

of the Group.

Mr. Jiang Quanlong, aged 68, is a founding member and was
previously the chairman of the Group until September 2017.
Mr. Jiang is responsible for internal and external coordination and
development of business relationship of the Group. Mr. Jiang is
recognised as a senior economist by Jiangsu Provincial Personnel
Department. Mr. Jiang has been appointed as the honorary
chairman of the council of Jiangsu Rare Earth Industry Association
since January 2021. Mr. Jiang has over 30 years of experience in the
rare earth and refractory materials industries. Prior to the founding
of the Group, Mr. Jiang had been a factory manager of a refractory
materials production plant and a sales manager of a glass and
ceramics manufacturing company. Mr. Jiang is also a director of YY
Holdings Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Mr. Jiang is the husband of Ms. Qian Yuanying, the chairman of the
Group, and the father of Mr. Jiang Xin, the general manager of the
Group. From 16 August 2006 to 15 September 2017, Mr. Jiang
served as the chairman and an executive director of Pan Asia
Environmental Protection Group Limited, the shares of which are

listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Mr. Jiang Dawei, aged 37, joined the Group in 2006 and has been
appointed as the chief executive officer and an executive director of
the Group since 2017. Mr. liang is responsible for the overall
management of the Group and the marketing aspect of the Group's
business. Previously, Mr. Jiang was the head of the sales department
of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited. Mr. Jiang
obtained a Bachelor degree of Business Administration from

Yangzhou University.

Mr. Jiang Cainan, aged 62, joined the Group in 1986 and has
been appointed as an executive director of the Group since 2005.
Mr. Jiang is also the general manager of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing
Refractory Materials Company Limited and is responsible for the
operation and sales of refractory materials business. Mr. Jiang has

over 30 years of experience in the refractory materials industry.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Chunhua, aged 57, joined the Group in 2001 as an
independent non-executive director of the Group. Mr. Huang
obtained a Ph. D degree in Marketing and a Master degree in
Business Administration from University of Strathclyde and a
Bachelor degree in Economics from Wuhan University. Mr. Huang is
the founder and chairman of Pasaca Capital Inc. and also founder
of Innova Medical Group Inc., the global leader of COVID-19 rapid
test kits and testing solutions. Mr. Huang was the deputy chairman
and an executive director of Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited, the
shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, for the periods from November 2002 to October 2007 and
from June 2010 to December 2020. Mr. Huang was a director and
China equity market strategist of BNP Paribas Securities (Asia)
Limited for the period from May 2007 to April 2009. Prior to this,
Mr. Huang was an analyst of various securities companies.
Mr. Huang has extensive knowledge and experience in financial

market.

Mr. Jin Zhong, aged 69, joined the Group in 2004 as an
independent non-executive director of the Group. Mr. Jin graduated
from the Faculty of Material Engineering of Wuhan Steel College,
specialising in refractory studies. Mr. Jin was previously the deputy
chief engineer of the head factory of Guiyang City Refractory

Materials Factory.
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Mr. Dou Xuehong, aged 82, joined the Group in April 2021 as an
independent non-executive director of the Group. Mr. Dou has over
30 years of experience in research, institutional and publication
works in relation to rare earth industry. Mr. Dou graduated from
the school of chemistry of Lanzhou University. After that, he worked
at Baotou Research Institute of Rare Earths where he was mainly
engaged in the research of hydrometallurgy of rare earth and
niobium. From 1983 to 1996, Mr. Dou served as the manager of
Rare Earth Information Centre of Baotou Research Institute of Rare
Earths, and also served as the editorial director of the society journal
“Chinese Rare Earths” issued by The Chinese Society of Rare Earths,
the editor-in-chief of the journal “Rare Earth Information” published
by the Rare Earth Office of the National Development and Reform
Commission, and the manager of the China Rare Earth Information
Net Office. Since 1996, Mr. Dou had participated and acted as
editor-in-chief of various projects such as “Research on China’s Rare
Earth Industry Development Strategy”, “Yearbook of The Chinese
Society of Rare Earths”, and “China Rare Earth Development
Documentary”. In 2017, Mr. Dou participated in the publication of
“China Rare Earth — Dream of Powerful Country” and served as

editor-in-chief.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jiang Xin, aged 36, joined the Group in 2008 and has been
appointed as the general manager of the Group since 2012.
Mr. Jiang is responsible for the marketing aspect of the Group’s
business. Mr. Jiang obtained a Bachelor degree in Arts majoring in
International Business, Finance and Economics from University of
Manchester and a Bachelor degree in Arts majoring in Business
Studies from University of Wales. Mr. Jiang has also been the
chairman and an executive director of Pan Asia Environmental
Protection Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Jiang is a son of
Mr. Jiang Quanlong, an executive director of the Group and

Ms. Qian Yuanying, the chairman of the Group.
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Mr. Jiang Hongjun, aged 62, joined the Group in 2000. Mr. Jiang
is the deputy general manager of the Group and is responsible for
the daily administrative affairs of the Group. Mr. Jiang has over 30

years of experience in administrative management.

Mr. Huang Wang, aged 52, joined the Group in November 2019.
Mr. Huang is the general manager and the chief engineer of Yixing
Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited. Mr. Huang graduated
from the Faculty of Nonferrous Metallurgy of Northeastern
University. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Huang was the chief
engineer or technical director of various rare earth companies.
Mr. Huang has extensive experience in production process of rare

earth and non-ferrous metal industry.

Mr. Hua Zhangang, aged 44, joined the Group in 2001. Mr. Hua is
the general manager of Wuxi Xinwei High Temperature Ceramics
Company Limited and is responsible for the operation of the high
temperature ceramics business. Mr. Hua graduated from the Faculty
of Materials Science and Engineering of Jingdezhen Ceramic
Institute. Mr. Hua has extensive experience in production

management of refractory materials.

Mr. Law Lap Tak, aged 50, joined the Group in 1999 as the
financial controller and company secretary of the Group. Mr. Law
graduated in Hong Kong and obtained a Bachelor degree in
Business Administration. Mr. Law is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Law was an audit manager in an international accounting firm
in Hong Kong. Mr. Law has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Macau E&M Holding Limited, the shares of
which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, since
August 2020.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
China Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is committed to

attending good corporate governance practices and procedures. The
Company has adopted its own code of corporate governance based
on the principles and code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the

Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong

“CG Code"”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules

Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). In the opinion of the Board of
Directors (the “Board”), the Company has complied with the CG
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Company’s
Code") regarding securities transactions by directors on terms no
less exacting than the required standards set out in the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry, the Company confirms that all directors have
complied with the required standards as stated in the Model Code
and the Company’s Code throughout the year ended 31 December

2020.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board currently comprises seven members, consisting four

executive directors and three independent non-executive directors.

The composition of the Board and the attendance of the Board

meetings and general meeting during the year are as follows:

SHEUREETHA

No. of meeting(s) attended/held
Bx Exg BRAE
Director Board meeting General meeting
HITES
Executive director
BTREL (ZE) 5/5 11
Ms. Qian Yuanying (Chairman) 5/5 11
BRELL 5/5 171
Mr. Jiang Quanlong 5/5 171
FEREBTAE (TTHAEE) 5/5 171
Mr. Jiang Dawei (Chief Executive Officer) 5/5 11
Brmia 5/5 171
Mr. Jiang Cainan 5/5 171
BYFHITES
Independent non-executive director
HEERYE 3/5 0/1
Mr. Huang Chunhua 3/5 0/1
eERE 3/5 171
Mr. Jin Zhong 3/5 171
TR EE (R-ZEZ—F—AHAFTY) 3/5 0/1
Mr. Wang Guozhen (passed away on 4 January 2021) 3/5 0/1
BERAE (R=_F=——FHF—HEZT) TEA TEA
Mr. Duo Xuehong (appointed on 1 April 2021) N/A N/A

BREZgSH TENFATRBUIENTE
EERTESTTESHBRTRITT —REH

EEREEENERTFRFICAZI0ANIES
BREEAEBNIA -

Apart from Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with
the independent non-executive directors without the presence of

executive directors during the year.
The biographical information of the directors are set out in
“Directors and Senior Management Profile” on pages 16 to 19 of

this annual report.
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Mr. Jiang Quanlong is the husband of Ms. Qian Yuanying. Save as
disclosed, there are no family or other material relationship among

the Board members.

TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed director will receive comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing

Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to directors whenever

necessary.

During the year, the directors of the Company have participated in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
skills and knowledge in accordance with code provision A.6.5 of the
CG Code. The Company has also provided information relating to
the regulatory update and extracted certain materials from the
website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) to directors for their own study to strengthen their

understanding on the Listing Rules from time to time.

PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS
Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at least

14 days before the meetings. For other Board and committee

meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors apprised
of the latest developments and financial position of the Company
and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and
each director also have separate and independent access to the

senior management whenever necessary.
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The Company Secretary is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to directors for comment within a
reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open for
directors’ inspection. All directors have full and timely access to all
information of the Company as well as the services and advice from

the Company Secretary and senior management.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a
director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly

convened Board meeting.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer have
different roles and responsibilities. The Chairman is responsible for
the formulation of the Group’s overall business development
policies while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the

overall management of the Group's business.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board has met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting related financial management expertise
throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.
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The independent non-executive directors of the Company are highly
skilled professionals with expertise and experience in the field of
financial management and businesses related to the Group. They
advise the Company on strategy development and enable the Board
to maintain high standards of compliance of financial and other
mandatory reporting requirements and provide adequate checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders and the
Company as a whole. Each of the independent non-executive
directors has accepted a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of two years. Each of the independent non-executive
directors has made an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers that
all independent non-executive directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are

independent.

Following the passing away of Mr. Wang Guozhen on 4 January
2021, the number of independent non-executive directors and
members of Audit Committee has fallen below the minimum

number required under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Dou Xuehong was appointed on 1 April 2021 as an
independent non-executive director and a member of Audit
Committee to fill a casual vacancy on the Board pursuant to Rules
3.11 and 3.23 of the Listing Rules and, being eligible, will offer

himself for re-election at the 2021 annual general meeting.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND

CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT
The Company is governed by the Board which is responsible for
directing and supervising its affairs and oversight of the Group’s
businesses, strategic decision and performance. Execution of the
Board’s decisions and daily operations are delegated to the

management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance with the Model Code, and the compliance with the CG

Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy setting out the

approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Board has
considered that diversity of the Board members can be achieved
through consideration of a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualification, skills, knowledge and industry and
regional experience. The Company aims to maintain an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board that are relevant to

the Company’s business growth.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a Nomination Policy setting out the relevant
selection criteria and nomination procedures in order to select or
make recommendations on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships. The selection criteria includes ability to devote
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company,
reputation for integrity, accomplishment and experience in the
relevant industries, commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest, diversity in all its respects and effectiveness in

carrying out the responsibilities of the Board.

To nominate a director, the secretary of the Nomination Committee
shall call a meeting of the Nomination Committee, and invite
nominations of candidates from Board members if any, for
consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to its meeting.
The Nomination Committee may also put forward candidates who

are not nominated by Board members.
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For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election at a general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its

consideration and recommendation.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated by the
Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and to invite
nominations from the shareholders of the Company, a circular will
be sent to the shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment
period for the shareholders to make the nominations. The names,
brief biographies (including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence, proposed remuneration and any other information,
as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations,
of the proposed candidates will be included in the circular to the

shareholders.

Until the publication of the circular, the nominated persons shall not
assume that they have been proposed by the Board to stand for

election at the general meeting.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his or her candidature at any
time before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to

the Company Secretary of the Company.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any general

meeting.
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DIVIDEND POLICY
The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy setting out the approach
to target dividend payout ratio of the Company, which is

determined by the Board at its sole and absolute discretion, subject

to:

1. the requirements of the Company's constitutional
documents;

2. the solvency requirements of the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands;

3. there being sufficient amount of retained profits and share
premium of the Company for the dividend payment;

4. any financial covenants and other restrictions that exist with
respect to certain of the Company’s financing arrangements
and other agreements by which the Company is bound from
time to time;

5. the earnings, financial position, results of operation,
expansion plans, working capital requirements, and
anticipated cash needs of the Company and its subsidiaries;

6. the payment by subsidiaries of cash dividends to the
Company; and

7. other factors which the Board may deem appropriate.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit

Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company are established with defined written
terms of reference. The terms of reference of Board committees are
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange

and are available to shareholders upon request.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The principal functions of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board in reviewing the relationship with the auditor of the
Company, the financial information, the financial reporting system,

risk management system and internal control procedures.

The composition of the Audit Committee and the attendance of the

Committee meetings during the year are as follows:

jo4=] BRURE BTHAE
Member No. of meetings attended/held
BIYFHITES
Independent non-executive director

IERELE (ZE)(R=ZF-—F—AHAFLY) 212
Mr. Wang Guozhen (Chairman) (passed away on 4 January 2021) 2/2
BEESRE 212
Mr. Huang Chunhua 2/2
PELLE 22
Mr. Jin Zhong 2/2
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During the meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Company and discussed
auditing, risk management system, internal control and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the interim and annual
results of the Company with the assistance of the auditor without

the presence of the executive directors.

On 4 January 2021,

ceased to be the chairman of the Audit Committee. On 1 April

Mr. Wang Guozhen passed away and thus

2021, Mr. Huang Chunhua was redesignated as the chairman of the
Audit Committee and Mr. Dou Xuehong was appointed as a

member of the Audit Committee.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and senior management,

and to review their specific remuneration packages.

The composition of the Remuneration Committee and the
attendance of the Committee meetings during the year are as

follows:

SRLEBITHE
No. of meetings attended/held

BYFHITES

Independent non-executive director
BEELE(LE)

Mr. Huang Chunhua (Chairman)

ELE

Mr. Jin Zhong

TEE ARG (RZF-—F— AHHAFH)

Mr. Wang Guozhen (passed away on 4 January 2021)
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During the meetings, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration policy and recommended the remuneration packages

of the directors to the Board.

On 4 January 2021, Mr. Wang Guozhen passed away and thus
ceased to be a member of the Remuneration Committee. On 1 April
2021, Mr. Dou Xuehong was appointed as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and Mr. Huang Chunhua was

redesignated as a member of the Remuneration Committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The principal functions of the Nomination Committee are to review
the Board composition with reference to the Board Diversity Policy
adopted, discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board, make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of directors with reference to
the Nomination Policy adopted, and assess the independence of

independent non-executive directors.
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The composition of the Nomination Committee and the attendance

of the Committee meetings during the year are as follows:

BRULE ETHE
No. of meetings attended/held

BuUFHTES

Independent non-executive director
CERE(FE)

Mr. Jin Zhong (Chairman)

BRELE

Mr. Huang Chunhua
TEYRE (R -_F - —F—AHHEY)

Mr. Wang Guozhen (passed away on 4 January 2021)
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During the meetings, the Nomination Committee with reference to
the Board Diversity Policy and Nomination Policy reviewed the Board
composition and the independence of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company. The Nomination

Committee considers that the Board composition is appropriate.

On 4 January 2021, Mr. Wang Guozhen passed away and thus
ceased to be a member of the Nomination Committee. On 1 April
2021, Mr. Dou Xuehong was appointed as a member of the

Nomination Committee.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Company’s Articles of Association specify that every director
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and the director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office only until the next following general meeting of the

Company.

In accordance with Articles 108(A) and (B), Mr. Jiang Cainan and
Mr. Huang Chunhua will retire by rotation from the Board at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible, offer

themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 112, Mr. Dou Xuehong who was
appointed by the Board as an independent non-executive director
on 1 April 2021 shall hold office until the forthcoming annual

general meeting and being eligible, offer himself for re-election.
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DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2020. It is the directors’ responsibility to prepare financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group, the results and cash flows for each financial period. In
preparing the financial statements, the directors have to ensure that
appropriate accounting policies are adopted. The financial

statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about the reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 50 to 58 of this annual

report.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration in respect of audit services
(including interim review) provided by the auditor of the Company
was HK$2,985,000. There was no other non-audit service provided
by the auditor.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Group has established a risk management framework, which
consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and senior management

of the Group.

The Board evaluates and determines the nature and extent of
principal risks that is acceptable in achieving the Group's strategic
objectives, and acknowledges its overall responsibility for
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. The Audit Committee supports the Board in
monitoring the operating effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems, while the senior management is
responsible for the design and implementation of relevant
procedures. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material

misstatement or loss.
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The Group has adopted various risk management procedures and
guidelines with defined authority for implementation by major units
or departments, including sales and collection, procurement and
payment, production and warehousing, finance and treasury as well
as fixed assets management. Each major unit or department is
responsible for daily risk management activities, including
identifying major risks that might impact on the Group's
performance, accessing and evaluating the identified risks according
to their likely impacts and the likelihood of occurrence, formulating
and implementing measures, controls and response plans to manage
and mitigate such risks. During monthly regular meetings heads of
major operation units or departments discuss the business and
report the risk management and internal control matters to the
Group's Chief Executive Officer, who is directly responsible to the

Board.

In view of the importance of the treasury cycle, principally it is
processed by segregation of duties and proper approval is needed
for all payment and fund management. Each subsidiary will review
its own cash position continuously to ensure that there is adequate
fund available to support its operation and development. The
Chairman of the Board will work together with all executive
directors to monitor the overall financial resources of the Group and

carry out fund allocation.

The Board has entrusted the Audit Committee with the
responsibility to oversee the risk management and internal control
systems on an on-going basis and to review the effectiveness of the
systems annually. To perform the internal audit function, the Group
has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems with the assistance of an independent
advisor during the year and reported the key findings to the Audit
Committee. The review covers major and material controls in areas
of financial, operational and compliance and risk management
functions. Although there is room for improvement, no significant

deficiency of the internal control has been identified in the review.
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The Group has maintained internal guidelines for ensuring that
inside information is disseminated to the public in an equal and
timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations. Senior executives of the investor relations, corporate
affairs and financial control functions of the Group are delegated
with responsibilities to control and monitor the disclosure of inside
information. Access to inside information is confined to relevant
senior management on “need-to-know” basis. Relevant personnel
and other professional parties involved are reminded to preserve

confidentiality of the inside information until it is publicly disclosed.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
General meeting

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the shareholders and the Board. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, or in their
absence, their duly appointed delegates are available to answer
questions at the shareholders’ meetings. Auditor of the Company is
also invited to attend the Company’s annual general meeting
("AGM") and is available to assist the directors in addressing
queries from shareholders relating to the conduct of the audit and
the preparation and contents of the Independent Auditor's Report.
Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on

each substantial issue, including the election of individual directors.

Notice of AGM and extraordinary general meetings ("EGM")
together with related papers are sent to the shareholders at least 20
clear business days and 14 days before the respective meetings,
setting out details of each proposed resolution, voting procedures
and other relevant information. All votes of shareholders at the
general meeting will be decided by poll pursuant to the Listing
Rules. The Chairman will demand that all resolutions put to the vote
at general meetings be taken by poll and will explain such rights
and procedures during the general meetings before voting on the
resolutions. An independent scrutineer will be appointed to count
the votes and the poll results will be posted on the websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange after the general meetings.

Annual Report 2020 4




FPXRELBWRS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AQ AR AR A D R A A 4 Z 52 48 B Bealf
TRAABRERFIAE - BEAABRERFIIAE
ZIRFWT

REBLEZARARRAEBER
BRAEREZBRBRATLR TS
Z—H—RHAEBRER(HRAD B
NEBMBAMERARNREEARBRE
AIRE  NEEZFEREPERAZMEM
EIE o

S
IS

2. ﬁ%‘guﬁ/\ao\b{iﬁﬁt¢§u\—r Btﬂ_j,
HMARBESTRARMEEL :

KAFARBEBZEEEEME

itk EBEFSLITE39RERK
[E2509%

B : info@creh.com.hk

BEA 0 AEME

FARRPER
ik hEARAMBII G BEET
T &

BEA . DRAWME

PNS S Y

Hodlt - Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands

BEA  AEME

BRAREERENZR BRFERS
D NBERABEE - RREM AR
BERREMTUARE

Annual Report 2020 4#

Shareholders of the Company can make a requisition to convene an
EGM pursuant to Article 64 of the Company’s Articles of
Association. The procedures for the shareholders to convene an

EGM are as follows:

1. One or more shareholders (“Requisitionist”) holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of
voting at general meetings shall have the right, by written
notice, to require an EGM to be called by the directors for

the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

2. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the directors or
the Company Secretary of the Company at all of the

following addresses:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong

Address: Room 2509, Harcourt House, 39 Gloucester
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Email: info@creh.com.hk

Attention: Company Secretary

Head office of the Company
Address: Dingshu Town, Yixing City, Jiangsu Province,
the People’s Republic of China

Attention: Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company

Address: Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands

Attention: Company Secretary

Shareholders must provide their full name, contact details
and identification in order to given effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by

law.
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3. The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit

of such requisition.

4. If the directors fail to proceed to convene such meeting
within 21 days of such deposit, the Requisitionist himself
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the Requisitionist as a result of the failure of the
directors shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist by the

Company.

Procedures for shareholders to direct enquiries to the Company
For matters in relation to the Board, shareholders can contact the

Company at the following:

Address: Room 2509, Harcourt House, 39 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Email: info@creh.com.hk

Telephone: (852) 2869 6283

Fax: (852) 2136 0030

Attention: Company Secretary

For share registration related matters, such as share transfer and
registration, change of name or address, loss of share certificates or

dividend warrants, the registered shareholders can contact:

Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Address: 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2862 8555

Fax: (852) 2865 0990

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a
shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal
("Proposal”) with his/her detailed contact information at the
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 2509,

Harcourt House, 39 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request
is proper and in order, the Board will be asked to include the

Proposal in the agenda for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder concerned
at the general meeting varies according to the nature of the

Proposal as follows:

1. At least 14 days' notice in writing if the Proposal requires

approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company.

2. At least 21 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in
an EGM or an ordinary resolution of the Company in an
AGM.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintains regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts
to keep them abreast of the Company's developments. Enquiries

from investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

To promote effective communication, the Company also maintains a
website at www.creh.com.hk, where extensive information and
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,

financial information and other information are posted.

During the year, the Company has not made any changes to its
Articles of Association. An up-to-date version of the Company’s
Articles of Association is available on the websites of the Company

and the Stock Exchange.



EZGREMAZHTPEBLERERQF (T4
’&ETJ)&/\W%A (B AKBEDHEE-Z
TET A=+ -BLEENFREEER

EBRRE
ARRMEBEBRRELER ARENIEX
BRBIEMRMAERZHERKE -

MBARMNEZEBHRGS P HERRMEEI -

o HE R

AEEDBEMNFBEN G BRRME
15°

RER DK
AEERBE_T-_TF+_A=+—HLHF

EREEHNTFREGENGAEBERN

RAFERAEMRIREDHLRHARS -

B RFBEHNGE M ERERM 27 -

ARFAHD K2
ARAAGRE 2 EERERDEERRRE
EFRABE-R-B-BF+-A=+-—
B AR2AAH®SRERROEE R
2,172,563,00078 7T °

BB E
AEERBERLBANBREENEEHMEZIRAE
FIRF164H °

SEEEWS
DIRECTORS' REPORT

The directors have pleasure in presenting the annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of China Rare Earth
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and sales of rare

earth products and refractory products.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 19 to

the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Details of segmental information of the Group are set out in note

15 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are

set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 59 of

this annual report.

No interim and final dividend was declared and paid to the

shareholders for the year.

Details of other appropriations are set out in note 27 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution comprise the share
premium account and retained profits/accumulated losses. As at 31
December 2020, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$2,172,563,000.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results of the Group for the past five financial

years is set out on page 164 of this annual report.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the

year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES
Details of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in note

12 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of

this report are:

Executive directors

Ms. Qian Yuanying (Chairman)

Mr. Jiang Quanlong

Mr. Jiang Dawei (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Jiang Cainan

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Huang Chunhua

Mr. Jin Zhong

Mr. Wang Guozhen (passed away on 4 January 2021)

In accordance with Articles 108(A) and (B) of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Jiang Cainan and Mr. Huang Chunhua will retire
by rotation from the Board at the forthcoming annual general

meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

As at 31 December 2020, none of the directors has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other

than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executives of the Company and their respective
close associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO") or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers were as follows:

1. RAERQR KRG ER 1. Interests in shares of the Company

ERDE S BT

= BEHE /5% ROHE BRAENE D

% to the issued

share capital of

Director Nature of interest/Capacity Number of shares the Company

e ELPA VN 707,179,200 (A73#1) 30.20%

Qian Yuanying Founder of a trust 707,179,200 (Note 1) 30.20%

BITH ERYNCI i 21,000,000 (#7a2) 0.90%

Qian Yuanying Interest of controlled corporation 21,000,000 (Note 2) 0.90%

B REE [P TV StyNCI - 728,179,200 (K7t 1%2) 31.10%

Jiang Quanlong Interest of spouse/Interest of 728,179,200 (Notes 1 & 2) 31.10%

controlled corporation

BRE ERBEAA 530,077 (A15#3) 0.02%

Jiang Dawei Beneficial owner 530,077 (Note 3) 0.02%
Het - Notes:

1. 707,179,2000% LA 47 & & #BYY Holdings
Limited#¥ B H2 B2 BHITRAHYY
Trust®) = FEAYYT (PTC) Limited A -
ME¥EAABEREAENREBEIRL
TREFREEBHNAT - REALY
EBEPIBEXNVHBZ ERBTRZLAYY
Trust A e BREEERBTLRLZ
+ AYY Holdings Limited#) % = ©

2. 21,000,0000% LA #F & #% #8Praise Fortune
Limited#5 5 » H39.93% M2 &7 A M
BRELCENEBETLRZEIFE -8
TLE L+ APraise Fortune Limited & E

3. FERDBUREFRRE -

1. 707,179,200 shares are held in long position through YY
Holdings Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is held
by YYT (PTC) Limited, the trustee of YY Trust, the discretionary
object of which is a company wholly owned by Ms. Qian
Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, and her sons.
Ms. Qian Yuanying is a founder of YY Trust within the meaning
under Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Jiang Quanlong and Ms. Qian
Yuanying are the directors of YY Holdings Limited.

2. 21,000,000 shares are held in long position through Praise
Fortune Limited, 39.93% of its issued share capital is held by

Ms. Qian Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong.
Ms. Qian Yuanying is a director of Praise Fortune Limited.

3. All the shares are held in long position.
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2. REBRLTRG HEROIRAEER 2.

Interests in shares, underlying shares or equity interests

in associated corporations

(a) WEERER L E] (a) Microtech Resources Limited
HEATEBITRAF
E=x EEME H% ERTROEAIREE ZRGERNE DT
% in the class of
shares in the issued
Nature of interest/ Number and class of share capital of
Director Capacity issued shares the company
BITH EnEaA R EREIRIEAL 173,000,000/ 30%
Qian Yuanying Beneficial owner 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares 30%
R EE EREBA EREREIEL7,000,0008 70%
Jiang Quanlong Beneficial owner 7,000,000 non-voting deferred shares 70%

(b)  EREFEFIERLERDA]

(b) Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited

Bx REME 545 RAEZB D
Director Nature of interest/Capacity % equity interest
W REE SR YN o 5%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled corporation 5%
et - Note:

ZERBZNERERATREEERA
REE ZTEC¥ERBERELER
B0%HER BT HI0%EmAETF
BE -BRELTETAZLENER

REA -
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The equity interest is held by Yixing Xinwei Group Co., Ltd.,
a PRC domestic enterprise 90% owned by Mr. Jiang
Quanlong, with the remaining 10% owned by his son.
Mr. Jiang Quanlong is also the legal representative of the
enterprise.



(c) YY Holdings Limited
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(c) YY Holdings Limited

HEATEBITRAF

Bz EENE 56 BRITRPERNREE ZROERINBE D

% in the class of

shares in the issued

Number and class of share capital of

Director Nature of interest/Capacity issued shares the company

BITH EFEZBSZA LR 1A% 100%

Qian Yuanying Founder of a trust 1 ordinary share 100%

BITH EFEZBSZA B85 R 1725,0008% 100%

Qian Yuanying Founder of a trust 25,000 preference shares 100%

R EE RENFZER BB 1 100%

Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled corporation 1 ordinary share 100%

R EE RERF B B RR125,0008% 100%

Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled corporation 25,000 preference shares 100%
Hiat - Note:

YY Holdings Limited®) 2 & 2 & 17A%
AAYY Trustf) X5 AYYT (PTC)
LimitedFT#5A - MEX = ARERE
EENEBETRZIRETE2ER
BHATE - REHRHAERDEXVE
ZEBEEITLELZ LT AYY Trustd iz
AN BRELERBETRZLTAYVYT
(PTC) Limited W E %

BEAHEN  R-E-BE+=A=+—A
R B R D) E352FT T B 2 B
METE BEAANEFREBTRARARE
EWBALRARARKEHAAZRG - 0
BAD RAE S SR B 5 (E AT 26 AR -

The entire issued share capital of YY Holdings Limited is
held by YYT (PTC) Limited, the trustee of YY Trust, the
discretionary object of which is a company wholly owned by
Ms. Qian Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, and
her sons. Ms. Qian Yuanying is a founder of YY Trust within
the meaning under Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Jiang Quanlong
and Ms. Qian Yuanying are the directors of YYT (PTC)
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
directors or chief executives of the Company and their respective
close associates had or was deemed to have any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the register
kept under Section 352 of the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS

So far as is known to the directors, as at 31 December 2020, the
interests and short positions of shareholders, other than the
directors or chief executives of the Company, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as

follows:

1. YY Holdings Limited, the entire issued share capital of which
is held by YYT (PTC) Limited, was holding 707,179,200
shares of the Company in long position, representing
approximately 30.20% of the issued share capital of the

Company as beneficial owner.

2. YYT (PTC) Limited was deemed to be interested in long
position in 707,179,200 shares of the Company held by YY
Holdings Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is
held by YYT (PTC) Limited.

Save as disclosed above, no other party, other than the directors or
chief executives of the Company, has notified the Company that he
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register kept under Section 336
of the SFO as at 31 December 2020.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the Company’s annual general meeting held on 6 June 2014, the
shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of a new share
option scheme currently in force (the “New Scheme”) after the old
share option scheme, which was previously adopted on 4 June
2004, lapsed on 3 June 2014 for the purpose of providing
incentives to participants for their contribution to the Group. During
the year ended 31 December 2020, there was no option granted,

cancelled or lapsed under the New Scheme.
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The major terms of the New Scheme are as follows:

The purpose of the New Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the Group.

The eligible participants include any employee (whether
full-time or part-time, including any executive director), any
non-executive director, any shareholder, any supplier and
any customer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
any entity in which any member of the Group holds any
equity interest, and any party having contributed to the
development and growth of the Group.

Under the New Scheme, the total number of shares available
for issue is 167,264,305 which represents approximately
10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of adoption of the New Scheme.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the
Scheme in any 12-month period should not exceed 1% of
the issued share capital of the Company.

The exercisable period of an option granted may be
determined by the directors and should not end later than
10 years after the date of offer.

Any offer for the grant of an option may be accepted by the
participant within 21 days from the date of offer with a
consideration of HK$1 paid.

The exercise price may be determined by the directors
provided that it should not be less than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet
on the date of offer;

(ii) the average closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days

immediately preceding the date of offer; and

(iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.
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8. The New Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10
years from 6 June 2014, the date on which the Scheme was

adopted.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement,
which enables any of the directors or chief executives of the
Company or their spouses or children under the age of 18 to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures

of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
During the year, the Group paid approximately HK$829,000 as
rental expenses to Mr. Jiang Quanlong for the use of his office

premises.

Save as disclosed above and in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements, no director had a beneficial interest, either direct or
indirect, in any contract of significance to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party at the year-end date or at any

time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year, none of the directors had any interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or

indirectly, with the business of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year, the Company has in force indemnity provisions as
permitted under the Cayman Islands Companies Law for the benefit
of the directors of the Company. The permitted indemnity
provisions are provided for in the Company’s Articles of Association
and in the directors and officers liability insurance maintained in
respect of potential liability and costs associated with any

proceedings that may brought against the directors.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was

entered into or existed during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES
There has been no purchase, sale or redemption of any of the

Company’s listed securities by the Group during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable to

the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Sales
- the largest customer 18%
— five largest customers combined 62%
Purchases
— the largest supplier 37%
— five largest suppliers combined 81%

None of the directors, their respective close associates or any
shareholders who own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital to the knowledge of the directors, have any interest in
the share capital of any of the five largest customers or suppliers of

the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to developing and maintaining robust
corporate governance practices to safeguard the interests of its
shareholders and to enhance corporate value, accountability and
transparency of the Company. Information on the principal
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 20 to 36 of this

annual report.
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EHmE BUSINESS REVIEW
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Business environment changes continuously and the Group
is facing significant risks and uncertainties associated to it.
Instabilities in the global economy, especially in China, led
to fluctuation in the market supply and demand of rare
earth products and refractory materials products. In
addition, the attitude and the policies implemented by the
Chinese Government will have great impact on the markets
and will fluctuate the prices, supply and demand. Moreover,
the development of advanced technology will lead to new
application of rare earth and it may also derive new demand
for rare earth. The Group will closely monitor the market
trends and derive appropriate strategies to cope with the

changes ahead.

Key financial performance indicators

Analysis of key performance indicators including gross profit
ratios are set out in the Business Review section of
Chairman’s Statement on pages 7 to 10 of this annual

report.
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Environmental policies and performance

The Group is fully aware of the importance of environment
protection on the Group’s sustainability and future
development. The Group devotes to minimizing the release
of water, air and sound pollutants to the production
environments. All wastage are discharged and handled by
appropriate entities. The Group had undergone a series of
energy-savings and anti-pollution innovations to maintain its
leadership status in environment protection among the peers
in the industry. During the year, there was a leakage of
chemical solutions incident by Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare
Earth Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Group. Certain
chemical solutions was leaked from a crack of a storage
tank to a river and it violated the “Water Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China”. Remedial measures were taken actively afterward
and aftermath was handled properly. Apart from this, the
Group did not aware of any non-compliance of the laws or

regulations on environment protection during the year.

Compliance with laws and regulations

Most of the Group’s operations are situated in China and so
all of those laws and regulations which can affect foreign
invested enterprise’s operation in China, including the
Company Law, Law of Foreign-Capital Enterprises and
Regulation on the Administration of the Import and Export
of Goods are critical to the Group. In addition, those
provisions implemented by the Chinese Government in
relation to the rare earth industry such as “Several Opinions
of the State Council on Promoting the Sustainable and
Healthy Development of the Rare Earth Industry” and “Rare
Earth Industry Access Conditions” also have significant
influence on the Group’s operation. The Group did not
aware of any violations on the above laws and regulations

during the year.
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5. Relationship with key stakeholders
The Group shares a view that its staff is critical to its
success. The Group has provided a comprehensive staff
remuneration and welfare system. It also provided regular
training and study opportunities to employees to assist them
in maintaining professional competence. All staff had
entered into appropriate employment contract with the

Group so as to be protected by relevant labour laws.

The Group accumulated a large number of customer bases
all over the world. The Group has always focused on
maintaining good customer relationship. Every year, the
management and sales team visit customers and listen to

their needs so as to adjust its sales strategy.

The Group sources different materials with different
suppliers. The Group would not depend on a single supplier
to avoid the concentration risk. The Group maintains a
healthy procurement system and maintains good

cooperation relationship with suppliers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Memorandum and Articles of Association and the Cayman Islands
Companies Law in relation to the issue of new shares by the

Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the Rules Governing the

Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange during the year.
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AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020 have been audited by Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited.

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer
itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited will be proposed at the forthcoming

annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Qian Yuanying
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA RARE EARTH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China

Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 59 to 163 which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit

addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these

matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
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BREFEGE

Valuation of the Group’s inventories

FEHG A BREMN T2 R4(a) 2 EEREFHETEE

 HIBFR (GE A RSB BRK M 22028 — £ EH »

Refer to notes 2(h) and 4(a) to the consolidated financial statements for the directors’ disclosures of the related accounting

policies, judgements and estimates and note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

BREETSE
Key Audit Matter

RZZEZFF+_A=+—H BS5EFENEREE
#173340,391,0007 7T °

The carrying amount of the Group's inventories was
approximately HK$340,391,000 as at 31 December
2020.

EEEEREEEBARD 2Bt EER M T 2K
ARETHEMBZAAKEAEEFE AR FE -
BRI REBANMEFRERE -

Management determined the net realisable value of the
inventories by using the estimated selling prices in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale, which involved significant estimates and
assumptions.

EEMREEBERAE  DRERBAEFEEFBRLERK
BEHRREEMmMEL -

The determination of the basis of write-down is a
significant judgement based on historical experience of
stock losses and expected future selling prices.

EEERN T _ZEFT _A=+—HETEEEE ' I
RBE_Z_ZTEF+_A=+-—BHULEFERBY

The Group carried out the inventory review as at 31
December 2020 and provided allowances of
approximately HK$42,770,000 to write down inventories
to their net realisable value during the year ended 31
December 2020.

BREEEEMEECFECAZRFE EEERRNZ
Z_ZF+_A=+—H EEEGFEHERRE -
Based on the management’s determination of the net
realisable value of the inventories, the management
concluded that the valuation of the Group’s inventories
was fairly stated as at 31 December 2020.

B TS I A8 R ) AR DA R R BT 7 8 2 AT B 3R R (B
FEREARGT A LA RARBLSERETEE -
We selected this as a key audit matter due to the
magnitude of the balance involved and the significant
accounting judgements and estimates required in
assessing the net realisable value of inventories.

Annual Report 2020 4#

REFFEEERENBEZLE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

TEREREY EXETEREAENGETZEFEE
(K BHE) ATEE:

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment of
the carrying amount of the Group’s inventories included,
among others, the followings:

s THREEREMGMHAFENEAFENT L RFGEREE
BELR G ERLE

e Obtaining an understanding of how management
estimated the net realisable value of inventories and
evaluating the historical accuracy of the allowance
estimation by management;

o HEBENRRIALEBREMFHREE THRIKAK
KAETTSHE TR 2 PR B % A Ay B2

e Discussing with management and assessing the basis of
the management’s estimation of subsequent selling
prices, costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale;

e HEFEGENERFEMERANTERRR  REHF
SETEMAREREBRESE

e Assessing the methodology and assumptions used in the
calculation of the net realisable value of the inventories;
and recalculating the allowance and reversal of
allowances for write-down of inventories;

s MEFERBEHRARERNER THIRARETHE
FeE 2 IR ARV R AR RN ¢« ]2

e Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance
of the selling prices of the inventories subsequent to the
end of the reporting period, the costs of completion and
the costs necessary to make the sale; and

e HEWMER-Z-_ZFF+_A=1+—HHMEAIZREF
BERKANBESEEH -

e Assessing the sufficiency of allowances where the
estimated net realisable value was lower than the cost as
at 31 December 2020.
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Impairment of the Group'’s trade receivables
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BLEE I FREMNF209)() ~ 2()R4(a)C EFRFFHHDBE - B R IG5 REEHBIHZME21832(a) 28—

EH

Refer to notes 2(g)(i), 2(j) and 4(a) to the consolidated financial statements for the directors’ disclosures of the related

accounting policies, judgements and estimates and notes 21 and 32(a) to the consolidated financial statements for further

information.

BRESTER
Key Audit Matter

RZZB-ZF+-A=+—H EXEERWEINE
[ {6 4 73457,879,000/& 7T #1155 )6k (B &5 8 4936,513,000
BT

The carrying amount of the Group's trade receivables
was approximately HK$457,879,000 as at 31 December
2020, net of impairment losses of approximately
HK$36,513,000.

REBHEEHRE (HHEEHRE]) BT EKER
ZHETEEEERRAERAB R - BUKRR2E
BEEBERDUEREERECEBABBETIME
0166 PR st AR P A 1T SR BB AT A o
The assessment of impairment of trade receivables under
the expected credit loss (“ECL") model requires the
application of significant judgement and estimates by
management. The ECL on trade receivables are assessed
individually for debtors which are credit impaired and
collectively using a provision matrix.

REFHTEEHERETSEZLE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

EEREREY BEEERUERZBENEETZEFE
F(EREE) ATRIE

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment on the Group's trade receivables included, among
others, the followings:

e TR ESEREEHCEEASEAUEEERE  KE
FOMERT (2 BSIE S 2Rt BMREE KR
e Understanding the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of the Group’s key controls over credit
control, debt collection and impairment assessment under
the ECL model;

e HNEEBRERNCREEEEMEAENZABERS
I BEERERRZ KRR DT FERNMERR R
DITHEREE SRR HE R RETHR

e Evaluating the reasonableness and appropriateness of the
information used by the management to develop the
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BERERERERS G RE (&)

Impairment of the Group's trade receivables (Continued)

BREETEHE REFHEEBRBITEEZAE
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HE_ZS-_ZTFT_A=+—BLEFEHH B5E
R EW RN Z R EBEFEL 14,269,000 7T
The Group recognised net impairment loss on trade
receivables amounting to approximately HK$14,269,000
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

BEEREEHABEEEREX TRERR AT -
ERESHARRAR -_E_ZF+-_A=+—RH2ZE
WERFOR BB EE 24 -

Based on the management’s assessment on the
impairment of trade receivables under the ECL model,
the management concluded that the impairment loss on
trade receivables was adequate as at 31 December 2020.

HRERREFERORE BeRENGTTEEER
ETRUERERBERFEMSIRERBABOEEML -
RMERBLIERBRENFIE -

We selected this as a key audit matter due to the
magnitude of the trade receivable balances, the higher
degree of estimation uncertainty and the subjectivity in
management’s judgement involved in determining the
expected loss allowance of the trade receivables.

PEAREEREMERACER PREVNEREEYEE
RERBERZHMN AABEENRE o £RIE &7
HREBRERTRBERTEBERRLAE L ERET
CHABRRBRERNFEMTHCERBESE - UiTHh
EEENEE T -_TF+-_A=+—HERKERZR
EEERMELHE REF2EEE: &

Assessing the reasonableness of management’s
judgement and estimates in determining impairment loss
on trade receivables as at 31 December 2020 by
examining the information used by management,
including review of management'’s identification of trade
receivables with credit impaired, testing the accuracy of
the historical default data, evaluating whether the
historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted based on
current economic conditions and forward-looking
information, and examining the actual impairment losses
recorded during the current year;

EFER T _TE+ A=+ B ZEKEFTRE
BiE X

Recalculating the impairment losses on trade receivables
as at 31 December 2020; and

RBEHMRE  UHETARETPHEBERERZ ER
FEEEN -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from




BUZAMRS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

REMR BT CEUBRRAAEZE
£
BEEZERRHRAMBRREEELARE
MRMAFRERMEBZENBERRARSEA
BizE YHABEEZERIRBMBRE - &
ENRBEZBZHTEGRERNZEBERRE - T
EEMARE BEFATHARE ZARHEME
ALTBBRSIERERE -

REREBRERZELE HEREEEENER
ETZERIETEREREREMFELE
REERBRAM - $83RFRE 7] A RFF RSB RRE A - i
B BEEBESERMBATALEERER
BREAMBBRELZBERER  AIRESE
REBRRERAL ©

ERBEERNEANETERAZBET  BFE
REZEHE  REEXEREE - BF:

o BARFEARRFHAERMERSEAH
BHRRFEEANERRAZ AR Rt &
BOBFEFAREZERAR A RER
ARMBEZEABRE FREFERL
A -ARNAFAESRER BE B

EER ERRRAFZENBEZEZER -

= 7% T8 A =R At 10 [1Eg

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or

accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves

fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
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WREZZEGBBZEET BEBEEHLH
RGEMBRRZETRREENTE  EMiE
REARETEE BEFERBMBETHAZSE
FHE BRFZRIERTAAARAEEZRETS
BREBRBFERZBERT  WEREHREES
BETBBREHERZAARRBHELZ
DB MEFRETEERSHEEZSER -

HABUGRBMREZ BT REESRIOKE -

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Lai Wing Ip.

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

HEZT-TF+-A=1+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

“ECEF —E-NE

2020 2019

fii5E THT FEL

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

L'ON Revenue 5 1,112,317 1,018,535

SHERA Cost of sales (1,036,492) (941,427)
EF Gross profit 75,825 77,108
HAi WA Other income 6 5,977 5,331

HERDHER Selling and distribution expenses (10,276) (11,170)

EEER Administrative expenses (39,575) (42,621)
Hiv (B18) /W= FE Other net (loss)/gain 7 (5,016) 12,848
BEEKRF Profit from operations 26,935 41,496

B 75 B AR Finance costs 8(a) (440) (588)
B % A1 % A Profit before taxation 8 26,495 40,908
8% Income tax charge 9 (5,887) (1,321)
REERR Profit for the year 20,608 39,587

19,710
898

20,608

HKO0.84 centsi& il
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-ZZT-_TF+-A=1—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

—BCEF —E-nEF
2020 2019
i3 FER TET
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
REEHF Profit for the year 20608 39,587
AEEHMEZERE (BB Other comprehensive income/
(HBREHRERESERE) (loss) for the year (net of
nil tax and reclassification
adjustments)
AIRBERE S EZ B AIEH ©  Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
—BEGIINEBTBERE Z - Exchange differences on
MEH Z% translation of financial
statements of foreign
operations 162,352 (56,660)
162,352 (56,660)
rEEREKE(FE)AE Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year 182,960 (17,073)

181,636
1,324

182,960
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

WZZ-FF+=HA=+—H As at 31 December 2020

b g 32 “E-hF
2020 2019
Bt 5 FHERT FAT
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
RS Goodwill 16 - =
mE - HE KK Property, plant and equipment 17 145,442 162,736
FREEE Right-of-use assets 18 102,473 100,736
BLEHIBEEE Deferred tax assets 25(b) 4,670 3,810
252,585 267,282
REBEE Current assets
FE Inventories 20 340,391 256,243
J7E Uit B 3k R L th JE Uk =X Trade and other receivables 21 492,847 313,037
ENRERES Prepayments and deposits 21 105,650 415,804
A] U [ 4 7B Tax recoverable 25(a) 785 737
HekIREESEHEE Cash and cash equivalents 22 1,740,255 1,478,953
2,679,928 2,464,774
REAE Current liabilities
JE A5 BR 3K Trade payables 23 75,607 74,776
JE R TE K2 H At & < R Accruals and other payables 23 57,487 44,388
B ZESE KA Amounts due to directors 24 5,012 2,921
HEARE Lease liabilities 26 1,243 1,181
JEN R TE Tax payable 25(a) 6,493 3,836

145,842

2,534,086
2,786,671

2,784,569
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MWZZ-TF+=HA=+—H As at 31 December 2020

—EZEF —E-NF
2020 2019
B & FERT FET
Note HK$’000 HK$'000

BEERRHE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 27
N Share capital 234,170 234,170
s Reserves 2,542,911 2,361,275

KATHEAAEMLES Equity attributable to owners of

the Company 2,777,081 2,595,445
FERER Non-controlling interests 7,488 6,164
EEEE TOTAL EQUITY 2,784,569 2,601,609
FOERIBEZRANBREALHESTSHN S The consolidated financial statements on pages 59 to 163 were
S F=ZA=tHHERKETE  THAT approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30

ATREEE : March 2021, and are signed on its behalf by:




GORDBANE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HEZT-TF+-A=1+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

KAREEAEGER
Attributable to owners of the Company
Ry RbEE  EAEE  EEEE  EXERR  ZiBEB P FERER e
Non-
Share Share Capital Statutory ~ Translation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserves reserve osses Sub-total interests Total
TR T T TR TR FiT T TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R=E-h%-5-H At 1 January 2019 234,170 2,093,306 22,348 249,078 293,286 (279,097) 2,613,091 5591 2,618,682
ZE-NEIERRY Changes in equity for 2019:
KEEET Profit for the year - - - - - 38,885 38,885 702 39,587
Hit2EHR  NREHER  Other comprehensive loss,
EpEil net of nil tax and
reclassification adjustments
—RERNEBHBRR ~ Exchange differences on
EREZR translation of financial
statements of foreign
operations - - - - (56,531) - (56,531) (129) (56,660)
AEE2ME (FR)/R#ME Total comprehensive (loss)/
income for the year = = = = (56,531) 38,885 (17,646) 573 (17,073)
“Z-nF+=A=t-H At31December 2019 234,170 2,093,306 22,348 249,078 236,755 (240,212) 2,595,445 6,164 2,601,609
W=2-85-fA-H At 1 January 2020 234,170 2,093,306 22,348 249,078 236,755  (240,212) 2,595,445 6,164 2,601,609
SECSEIERRY Changes in equity for 2020:
RERER Profit for the year - - - - - 19,710 19,710 898 20,608

Aft2AKE  NREHER
ENERR

Other comprehensive income,
net of nil tax and

161,926

161,926

162,352
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-ZZT-_TF+-A=1—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

—BEF —E-NF
2020 2019
(o= FBRT FHET
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
REED Operating activities
B 754 AT 4 ¥ Profit before taxation 26,495 40,908
HEIER Adjustments for:
B I AR AR Finance costs 8(a) 440 588
FEWA Interest income 6 (5,176) (5,331)
mE BERREZTE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 8(c) 32,000 32,214
FREEEZTE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8(c) 4,366 4,305
HEWE  BE KEE Gain on disposal of property,
2 W plant and equipment 7 (1,297) (11,009)
R/ (BE) fE YRR Net impairment losses recognised/
Z BB E T (reversed) on trade receivables 7 14,269 (2,601)
TR H fth FE IR 2 Net impairment losses recognised
REEBEFE on other receivables 7 257 66
FEMG Write-down of inventories 20(b) 42,770 19,375
m At (G Reversal of write-down of
inventories 20(b) - (1,955)
o 2
A 114,124 76,560
- “Taa
P
P - EEELEH Changes in working capital
! . FE®Em Increase in inventories (108,305) (124,665)
| I B MR BR 3R % EL i Wk (Increase)/decrease in trade

(184,791)

326,380
(3.822)

10,400
2,200

156,186

(3,998)

152,188
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEZT-TF+-A=1+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

—E_EE —Z-NF
2020 2019
(g3 FEx FET
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
REEE Investing activities
BEWE BERR Purchase of property, plant
and equipment (5,099) (21,951)
HEWME BEREREZ Proceed from disposal of property,
RCE e plant and equipment 16,829 4,133
EWRFEBT#E R EEE Cash compensation received from
the PRC government authority - 17,115
2 U R 2 Interest received 5,176 5,331
RETBRENELFE Net cash generated from
investing activities 16,906 4,628
MEED Financing activities
ENBERE 2 EREH Capital element of lease rentals paid (1,181) (1,121)
BERNHEEE S 2 M EFH Interest element of lease rentals paid (199) (257)
BARFE Interest paid (241) (331)
MEZHEANRLSFE Net cash used in financing activities (1,621) (1,709)
ReREEEHEER Net increase/(decrease) in cash
i/ (Rd) BE and cash equivalents 167,473 (153,844)

1,478,953

93,829

1,740,255
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-ZZT-_TF+-A=1—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

—REHR

TEBIERARAF (AR RAS
HEEMKIA—HERRNBEREER
m HBROREBBBARZMER AR ([H
R Em e ARBEMBPEERETES
EWENAFRIARER | — P RE -

KRR ZEEGRARKEERALRYY
Holdings Limited ([YY Holdings|) * 3% A 7]
REBRELZAESFEMAL ° YY Holdingsiy
BREAUARALTERZHBRE -

ARAREMBRAR (REAIAKE]) K
FRERHERIEMEMAER A RE

R EHBRENB T (BTl 5 8
ARNAIRERBEBLEZMBAR 28
B MARRRPEARKME ([HE])
K zMBARZEEEBAARE (TA
RED -ADREERR BB RER
REBMESRIFBMRIAKRRAYY Holdings
(BTt BB mRB L) BEm=s - WET

GENERAL

China Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
addresses of the Company’s registered office and principal
place of business are disclosed in the “Corporate information”

section of this annual report.

The immediate parent and the ultimate controlling party of the
Company is YY Holdings Limited (“YY Holdings"”), which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. YY Holdings does not

produce financial statements available for public use.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are engaged in manufacturing and sales of rare
earth products and refractory products, and investment

holding.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong, while
the functional currency of the Company's subsidiaries
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") is
Renminbi (“RMB”). The directors of the Company consider

that presenting the consolidated financial statements in Hong
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a)

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"),
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong

which

Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(“CO"). These consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). Significant accounting

policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 3
provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the

Group for the current and prior accounting periods
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

b)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis, except for certain financial instruments, which are
stated at their fair value as explained in the accounting

policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making judgements about the carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these

estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is

revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Q)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the

Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those

interests which would result in the Group as a whole
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9]

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to owners of
the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and owners of the Company.
Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and other
contractual obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with notes

2(k) or 2(I) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to

goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

d)

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the

business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not

larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the cash-generating unit (or group of

cash-generating units).
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction-in-progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated

impairment losses (see note 2(g)(ii)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour,
the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the
site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs

(see note 2(s)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in

profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated

residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over

their estimated useful lives as follows:
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

e)

f)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction-in-progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction and pending installation
and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses
(see note 2(g)(ii)), if any. Cost includes the costs of
construction of buildings, the costs of machinery and
equipment and interest charges arising from borrowings
used to finance the acquisition of these assets during the
period of construction or installation and testing. No
provision for depreciation is made on
construction-in-progress until such time as the relevant
assets are completed and are available for their intended
use. When the assets concerned are ready for intended
use, the costs are transferred to other categories of
property, plant and equipment and depreciated in

accordance with the policy as stated above.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

f)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for
short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less and leases of low-value assets. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a
lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with
those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as

an expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in

which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is

capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

f)

9)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group's
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured
in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded
in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use

asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected

credit losses (“ECLs"”) on the following items:
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Continued)

Financial assets measured at fair value, equity
securities measured at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL"), equity securities designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI") (non-recycling) and derivative financial

assets, are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows

that the Group expects to receive).
The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of

discounting is material:

—  fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions

and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date;

and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort. In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or

interest on their contractually due dates;
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)
Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant increase
in credit risk is performed on either an individual
basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is
performed on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and credit

risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in debt securities that are measured
at FVOCI (recycling), for which the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).
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2. FESHHEE®@ 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
9) GEFEREERE(#) g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
) EHTARAHEEZFEEE i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
(&) assets (Continued)
FFEFIE WA By EE () Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)
REREBH  AEEFGHEH At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
BERALBREERE %4 a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset
— R ZEE SR EEMETRR is credit-impaired when one or more events that
BeREATIZENEHE - have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
CRHEELREERE cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
SHMEELREERENZERS Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
FBUTABRE N includes the following observable events:
- EBEBABEAYBHRE - significant financial difficulties of the debtor;
- ERAEH WMEREREL - a breach of contract, such as a default or past
kR L due event;
m - EBEBAUEBENETH - it becoming probable that the borrower will
P B EA enter into bankruptcy or other financial
3 3 reorganisation;
- "?
5 :. -’ - B -mE - EEIEER -  significant changes in the technological,

! . BEEANEMEEHKA market, economic or legal environment that
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

if)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect
of recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject

to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal of
impairment in profit or loss in the period in which

the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an

impairment loss previously recognised no longer
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

9)

ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)
If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether
or not there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

ii)

fif)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not

reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss
in the year in which the reversals are

recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to

prepare an interim financial report in compliance

with HKAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”, in

respect of the first six months of the financial year.

At the end of the interim period, the Group applies
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

h)

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make

the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in

which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in

the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

i)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(g)(i) and are
reclassified to receivables when the right to the

consideration has become unconditional (see note 2(j)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability would
also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see
note 2(j)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities

of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

k)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the

amount is presented as a contract asset (see note 2(i)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see note 2(g)(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note

2(9)).

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

m)

n)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set out in
note 2(g)(i).

Employee benefits

i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be

material, these amounts are stated at their present
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

n)

Employee benefits (Continued)

ii)

fif)

Share based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share option reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate to the
market price of the Company’s shares. The equity
amount is recognised in the share option reserve
until either the option is exercised (when it is
included in the amount recognised in share capital
for the shares issued) or the option expires (when it

is released directly to accumulated profits/(losses)).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of

when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

o)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary differences or in periods into which
a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which
the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

Annual Report 2020 4
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

o)

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are
not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that
the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is

probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable

profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

0)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional

conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if
they relate to income taxes levied by the same

taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

different taxable entities, which, in each future

period in which significant amounts of

deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9)

)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

The Group's revenue mainly arises from the sale of goods
in the ordinary course of the Group’s business. Revenue
is recognised when control over a product is transferred
to the customer at the amount of promised consideration

to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

a)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group
takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph
63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration
for any effects of a significant financing component if

the period of financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income

recognition policies are as follows:

i) Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at
the customers’ premises which is taken to be the

point in time when the customers have accepted
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

a)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

ii)

fii)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. For financial
assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss

allowance) of the asset (see note 2(g)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position initially
when there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a

systematic basis in the same periods in which the

expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the
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HEZT-TF+-A=1+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

r)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit

or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the date on
which the Group initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates

ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items,
including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign

operations acquired on or after 1 January 2005, are
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

s)

1)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in

the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are

interrupted or complete.
Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s

family, is related to the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
t)  Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

iii)

V)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the

other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same

third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

1)

u)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business

and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory

environment. Operating segments which are not

individually material may be aggregated if they share a
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HEZT-TF+-A=1+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards
and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform

The application of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
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4, BERESHHAERGESITEESE2ZE 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY

ERIR (#) SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)
a) M FTREMZEERE(HE) a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
) YE BERREZHEHFLH i) Useful lives and residual values of property, plant

RF|er1E1E and equipment
CHEBETWE MENLRED Management determines the estimated useful lives
HHAAREFRAREHEITERRA - of and related depreciation charges for its property,
ZAEE TR E R EE plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
ENERATAESEL - A8 actual useful lives of assets of similar nature and
SRABEARIMAIF MHFHF functions. It could change significantly as a result of
A 1T B BT R T M significant technical innovations and competitor
HWERE L - e BFEHIRER actions in response to industry cycles. Management
LAt EEREQEMTES will increase the depreciation charges where useful
A g ME R E ERSR lives are less than previously estimated, or will write
SR - B 8 Ry ol B 3R R I off or write down technically obsolete or
M2 EBE o non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or

sold.
m i) YE BERREREZZE i) Estimation of impairment of property, plant and
I equipment

- : ‘. B RRBTRYE  BERZE If circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
. -? BEZEREEEBETEKE - AIEE an item of the property, plant and equipment may
. :. o AR ATERE]  WiEHNE not be recoverable, the asset may be considered

29N BREME - BB K&
BREZ A EEEFRERES
BAREER BEREESE

“impaired”, and an impairment loss may be

recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the

Group's accounting policy for impairment of
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

ERIR ()
a) fAEFFAREMNZEEZRIEF(H) a)
i) YE BERXGEREZIZE 1)
(%)
A E SR T A FER & KA

fif)

HBEABEE RaE BEER
BEK 2FEEELEZBEE
RREREGBEHBE HF
EHBAKTEREER AN REIE
HEKRHAE - AEBERABHAEA
BEHN(BEERAERBENR
2% 2 AET A R WA KT R A8 &
KA ZEA)  BETKE
CHEZABIEUESE - ZE M
ZEPRHEHEERAEEES
RFE - W A] e B BN R IR
ZEINRER BB ERE - B
—ETF+ZA=+—8'%
X BERZBZEEENR
145,442,000 7L (ZF — L F -
162,736,000/ 70) °

ERESEREZIZE iii)
A& BIAR 18 B 5E2(g) (i) BT 81 2 &S
SEEHEE SFHRTEAE

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimation of impairment of property, plant and
equipment (Continued)

The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and the value in use. In
determining the value in use, expected future cash
flows generated by the asset are discounted to their
present value, which requires significant judgement
relating to the level of revenue and amount of
operating costs. The Group uses all readily available
information in determining an amount that is a
reasonable approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of the
level of revenue and amount of operating costs.
Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could
result in additional impairment loss or reversal of
impairment in future periods. As at 31 December
2020, the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment is approximately HK$145,442,000 (2019:
HK$162,736,000).

Estimation of impairment of right-of-use assets
The Group performs annual assessments on whether
there has been impairment of these assets in
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

a)

iv)

v)

Estimation of impairment of trade receivables

The Group estimates the impairment loss
allowances for trade receivables by assessing the
ECLs. This requires the use of estimates and
judgements. ECLs are based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the end of the reporting period.
Where the estimation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will affect the carrying
amount of trade receivables and thus the
impairment loss in the period in which such
estimate is changed. The Group keeps assessing the
expected credit loss of trade receivables during their
expected lives. As at 31 December 2020, the
carrying amount of trade receivables is
approximately HK$457,879,000 (2019:
HK$261,933,000). Details of the impairment of
trade receivables are disclosed in notes 21 and
32(a).

Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value is determined
on the basis of the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated cost of
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HEZT-TF+-A=1+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group's accounting policies

In determining the carrying amounts of certain assets and
liabilities, the Group makes assumptions for the effects
of uncertain future events on those assets and liabilities
at the end of each reporting period. These estimates
involve assumptions about such items as cash flows and
discount rates used. The Group's estimates and
assumptions are based on historical experience and
expectations of future events and are reviewed
periodically. In addition to assumptions and estimations
of future events, judgements are also made during the

process of applying the Group's accounting policies.

i) Income taxes and deferred taxation
The Group is subject to income tax in Hong Kong
and various taxes in the PRC. Significant judgement
is required in determining the provision for taxation.
There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group

recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based
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4. BESFHABFRMGHIREEZE 4

ERR (#)

b) EERAEEEHBERFAEZIEX

G5t HE (&)

) FRBREERE(E)
ERETEREZEELHEL
E TREEERRBETR
APRERBEMEHEREZR
FHIBEBEZBERATH T AR
R oMz BEBRAERRRRMG
HREERRYEERERN
SREFHBERZETERIEE
ERMESH -HUTE A&
BR—Z-_TF+-_A=+—H
T 3R IR FE 7 18 & 7 494,670,000
BT (ZF— L% : 3,810,000/5
JT) °

i) DR EELZBHIH

R B TR AR R A i B A0 B P )
HETELRAETHEARD
& BB E R TRAB (RIRAE
BB BED R ERBR) - AE
BRA - WMZEHBARKAR

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the

Group's accounting policies (Continued)

i)

ii)

Income taxes and deferred taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences are recognised as management
considers it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate,
such differences will impact the recognition of
deferred tax assets and tax charge in the periods in
which such estimate is changed. In this regard, the
Group recognised deferred tax assets of
approximately HK$4,670,000 (2019: HK$3,810,000)
as at 31 December 2020.

Withholding tax arising from distribution of
dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue
for withholding tax arising from distribution of
dividends from certain subsidiaries according to the

relevant tax law and regulations is subject to

judgement on the timing of the payment of
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5. WA 5. REVENUE
WAEHREFEFP2EMBEEEE (TRE Revenue represents the sales value of goods supplied to
BEREEMEERE)  UHREWERE customers which excludes value-added and other sales taxes,
RE S - and is after deduction of any goods returns and trade
discounts.
REEHNEPZWAREREBHER o K Revenue from contracts with customers are recognised at point
BENBEPZWAZDITAT in time and the disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers are as follows:

Biad HADH @it

Rare Earth Segment Refractory Segment Total
“ECgF “ToNF CBCE®F CTNF CBCRF CRNF
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

TER T TER TR TER T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

TZEREA Types of major products

HERLER Sales of rare earth products

-BLTalY - Rare earth oxides 809,120 691,918 - - 809,120 691,918 105
HERMNER Sales of refractory products

~BARH - Refractory materlals - S 259,622 278,248 250,622 278,248

-&p - Magnesium grains - = 43,575 48,369 43,575 48,369

303,197 303,197

809,120 303,197 1,112,317

796,483 264,596 1,061,079
9,013 29,492 38,505
2,519 2,898 5417
1,105 6,211 1316

809,120 303,197 1,112,317
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L'ONE

FHRAREENRRZER
HERLIRMAERIBHRRAREMR
NERFZEMMEFEME M LHMAE
HEzcERRORzHERMERT BE
FRZRGGEREBUEERR HEHEP
Al-RABNKE - FEHN FREROE
180H °

FHMREARAELARREAHMREE
FRITEHZBWA

AKEE BEBEREEAFE1558E121
BNERBEEFRANHEERZEFA
# Bl ARBERTRERREASE (B
HETZECONBRTROERER) $HE
EBRHNBAZER ARSANBE—F
KA THRBEHAR

REVENUE (Continued)

Information about the Group’s performance obligation
The performance obligation for sales of rare earth and
refractory products is satisfied upon delivery of the goods at
the customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time
when the customers have accepted the goods and the related
risks and rewards of ownership. The trading terms with
customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers,
where payment in advance is normally required. The credit

period is ranged from O to 180 days upon delivery.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising
from contracts with customers in existence at the
reporting date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its contracts with customers for sales of
goods such that the Group does not disclose information
about revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it
satisfies the remaining performance obligations under these

contracts as these contracts have an original expected duration

of one year or less.
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6. HalA 6. OTHER INCOME
—BCEF —E-NEF
2020 2019
FEx FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
RITHFRFEMA Interest income from bank deposits 5,176 5,331
R 8 B (B 3E) Government grants (note) 801 -
5,977 5,331
Mz : BEZZ-ZEE+_A=+—HILEE Note: During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group was
AN AEBRBBBFHELEARIMNE granted subsidies of HK$801,000 (2019: Nil) in total under the
ETE 2Rt E T3 & B 5 BT Employment Support Scheme launched by the Hong Kong
BHENZESEREESHABA R Government for the payment of wages of employees and various
801,000 (ZE—NF: &) - supportive policies launched by the local PRC Government
authorities.

7. Hit(&8) ks FE 7. OTHER NET (LOSS)/GAIN
ZBCEF —E-NF
2020 2019
TER FET
HK$’000 HK$'000

(14,269)
(257)

1,297
2,152
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8. PBRF AT 8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
BT A& R B H1 B T 51 & I8 Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:
—E-EF —T-NF
2020 2019
FERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
a) BHHE a) Finance costs
BRI ER A B Interest on discounted bills 241 331
HEAGZHE Interest on lease liabilities 199 257
440 588
b) BT WA (BFEMZE10 b) Staff costs (including directors’
FBzEEME) remuneration in note 10)*
HFeRIE Salaries and wages 30,289 31,113
R IRAE T FT B4R Retirement benefits scheme
m (FF7E12) contributions (note 12) 340 2,945
> . : 30,629 34,058
- "?
&FLs ) HfEHE c) Other items
2 &
! B % SR Bl & Auditor’s remuneration

2,985

1,036,492

32,000
4,366




9. BEBBERAZHMEH

a) HABRRANZMEHE:
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9. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF PROFIT OR LOSS

a) Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

represents:

—BECEF —E-NF
2020 2019
FExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
AEBRE-PELCEMER Current tax - PRC Enterprise
Income Tax
NEE BB (T aE25(a)) Provision for the year (note 25(a)) (6,483) (5,173)
ELEBIR Deferred taxation
ERMER v EERED Origination and reversal of temporary
(P 7E25(b)) differences (note 25(b)) 596 3,852
i H Income tax charge (5,887) (1,321)

ARRREMBRABASFINHEHS
MEBRZESEMKL  RIERSE
FEEAMRIBRZAERTE B

AN EMAEHR -

The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands,

respectively, are not subject to any income tax pursuant

to the rules and regulations of their respective countries
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9. BEBBRAZHABH @ 9. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)
a) (%) a) (Continued)

PECEMSRETREE ZZEZEN The PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law also requires
F—A—HERHKNERQ R MEEI withholding tax of 5% or 10% upon distribution of
(BREEB) RED IR EF BAKRS% profits by the PRC subsidiaries since 1 January 2008 to its
H10%EFHMFBIH - overseas (including Hong Kong) shareholders.
RIBEFRBEREEFRAN  BEH Pursuant to the relevant tax laws and regulations in the
R BT A R A R A a) (R AR PRC, Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Refractory Materials
N ESEAIIEREZ [SF M Company Limited (“Leeshing Refractory”) is classified as
¥ AT -_TF-—AF—HE= foreign invested “New and High Technology Enterprises”
FHRAZAEBRBMEHE15% o and is entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15%

for a period of three years from 1 January 2020.

b) FIEBIXHESENHEERT b) Reconciliation between income tax charge and
R EZHEOT : accounting profit at applicable tax rates is as follows:
ZECEF —ZE—nF
2020 2019
0] I
HK$°000 HK$'000
- -
" g‘” R 355 Al e A Profit before taxation 26,495 40,908
o
- : "
i - R B AR AR & B % Bl Notional tax on profit before taxation,
. I EERBRETREGTE calculated at statutory tax rates
: G% ZBERE applicable to the respective tax

12,153

6,074
(18)

57




i 6 815 W = B 5
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZT-TF+-A=1+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

10. EEMS 10. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
BEATHEMEIBMNELR AT (REES Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of
FmER) RO E2 HENESHE T the CO and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

“EIEf
2020

§8BER BUEA PYUE

Ezfig BNEA WERL FEfs  EEZAR @zt
Salaries, Retirement

allowances benefits Share-

Directors’  and benefit-  Discretionary scheme based
fees in-kind bonus  contributions payments Total

TR TR TR TER TER TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

HTES Executive directors

Fm st (i) Ms. Qian Yuanying (note (i) - 1,098 - - - 1,008
BREEE Mr. Jiang Quanlong - 1,430 - ; - 1430
ERE R (3G Mr. Jiang Dawei (note (i) - 199 R 1 _ 200

ETEEE Mr. Jiang Cainan - 423 R _ R )
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10. EEM < (®) 10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
—2-nF
2019

Ho B¥R RN BAR(R B

EESE 20T BBt SEMF ERZAR @it
Salaries, Retirement

allowances benefits Share-

Directors’  and benefit-  Discretionary scheme based
fees in-kind bonus  contributions payments Total

Tan  TAT TR TAr  TER TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

HTES Executive directors
SRt (W) Ms. Qian Yuanying (note () - 1,098 - - - 1,008
BRERE Mr. Jiang Quanlong - 1430 - = - 1,430
BREREE (k) Mr. Jiang Dawei (note (i) - 198 - 3 - 201
Brass Mr. Jiang Cainan - 152 - - - 15
= 2878 = 3 = 2,881
112
BUFHTES Independent non-executive
S s > directors
‘* BRERE Mr. Huang Chunhua 7 = - - - 7
‘: - £BRE Mr. Jin Zhong 41 - = = - 3

? 1Ay L Mr. Wang Guozhen 68 - - - - 68
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"N BEHFALIREREBEASHE 11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S EMOLUMENTS
a) IHEEEBRSFAL a) Five highest paid individuals

He_Z - TF+_-_fF=1+—HILF During the year ended 31 December 2020, out of the
E AEBEREAEaFALTHR HA five highest paid individuals in the Group, three (2019:
ZE2(ZE-NF MB)R/RERAE two) are directors of the Company whose emoluments
E-HMESAMEI0EE HBmA are disclosed in note 10. The aggregate emoluments in
(ZE2-NF:=ZR)RBFALZH respect of the remaining two (2019: three) highest paid

BHEEMT individuals are as follows:
= —E-hF
2020 2019
THER FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
e REMmE S Salaries and other emoluments 1,767 2,047
Wi Discretionary bonus - -
RRTE A EH B 58 Retirement benefits scheme contributions 127 141
LARR D A E T 2 5k Share-based payments - -
1,894 2,188

HBEMEG (S NE: =25 53 The emoluments of the remaining two (2019: three)

AENES highest paid individuals are within the following band:
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M. BEFHFATIREREBAEME (@) 11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

a) HEEREHFAT(E) a) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
B2 2FR_FT—hhF+=A No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to
=+—BUEFE AEEWEA A the five highest paid individuals as inducement to join or
EEFALTIAKEMEANE - 1E upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
5 5B E 0 A B I A AR £ B B O 3R office during the years ended 31 December 2020 and
B sk BB (8 - 2019.
b) EREBEAEME b) Senior management’s emoluments
ENERTEREEAE (B L The emoluments paid or payable to senior management
XFBEBE ML (ZE—hF:=4) (including two (2019: three) highest paid individuals as
SRaHgAL) ZMEN TR TIIHE : disclosed above) are within the following bands:
—E-EF —E-NF
2020 2019
A AE
Number of Number of
114 individuals individuals
- e
;. B : Bands:
‘: .J."‘.‘ p = —1,000,000/8 7T Nil = HK$1,000,000 6 5
. 5 1,000,00178 7t — 1,500,000/ 7T HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1 1
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12. BERKEF

e B B AR A R AR B #RE - AR AR
FERIZHBRARBEAEZRBERRE
BEEAFHENETES L2 HERED
BREE (—BARAEHRFRAEREE) - &
BRINEM £ ER B BERE BRI 2
BEXN - ZEWBRARAKRSFEHKIN
BASZNERERES NEBEAEERED
BRARERHN - BE_ZT_ZF+ A
ST—HIEFE RARHEHIBEHA
199,000/ 7t (ZF — /L4 : 2,805,000/%
JT) o TR AR RS -

AEBBE-TTTF T _A—HBHEESH
BEIMEAERETE (RESE]) - Zat
ERAEERENEFHE - AEEE AR
BEEAFEETED L RZFEIHER -
HE-_Z-_ZE+-_A=t+—-BILEE"
A& B 758 78 @ 5T Bl - 30 49141,000/8 7T (=
ZT— L5 : 140,0008 ) - BIEL M A E
HBAEENEESRATSE  UHBEIHEE
EoKIBEEE - At SlHTRERE °

HEZT-TF+-A=1+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

12. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

As stipulated by the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC,
the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are required
to participate in a state-sponsored retirement plan, which is a
defined contribution pension scheme, for all of their
employees based on certain percentages of the employees’
basic salaries. The state-sponsored retirement plan is
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
retired employees and these subsidiaries have no further
obligations for the actual pension payments or other
post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions. For
the year ended 31 December 2020, the retirement plan
contribution amounted to approximately HK$199,000 (2019:
HK$2,805,000). Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group has participated in Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme"”), which is a defined contribution
pension scheme, since 1 December 2000. The Group makes
monthly contribution to the scheme based on certain
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries. For the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Group's contributions to the
MPF Scheme were approximately HK$141,000 (2019:
HK$140,000). The assets of the fund are held separately from
the Group and are managed by independent professional fund
managers. Contributions to the scheme vest progressively.
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14. BRER 14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

BRELRT Basic earnings per share

KAREBEAZEREREBF THEE T The calculation of the basic earnings per share to owners of
HRTE the Company is based on the following data:

—EEF —E-hEF
2020 2019
THER FHAT
HK$°000 HK$'000

AEERERRF 2 ARAF] Profit for the year attributable to owners

BEARIEAER R of the Company for the purpose of
calculating basic earnings per share 19,710 38,885
R4 & B
Number of shares
—BCEHF —E-NF
2020 2019
TR TR
‘000 ‘000
I
- ‘? AEEBRERERN 2 L@ERG Weighted average number of ordinary
& o3 IHE T 15 2 shares for the purpose of calculating

! basic earnings per share 2,341,700 2,341,700
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15. P HBH/E

AEBEREBUEEID DML ETER -
REMBE BB REERNF [BE D #)
FEAKERRAREERZERRA(E
FEERRAD ZTTHAHANL2HA LA
ERAERKBFBZEN -3 AKHE
ENTREZERDE - WEA GRE D
AFCRC T3 280 &6

Bt RERHEEBLIEMR

A B I 35 Y X EE

a) DEEE BERAE
GO BERARD HEIEERN
FOARBZEREERRARRT
JIREEREE2HD MEM2FE
BEERAGE:

DHEEBRMEBEAVRENEER
RBPEE ETEEREEHEEE

HEZT-TF+-A=1+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

15. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines. On adoption of HKFRS 8
“Operating segments”, and in a manner consistent with the
way in which information is reported internally to the Chief
Executive Officer, who has been identified as the Group's chief
operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group
has presented two reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments:

Rare earth:  Manufacture and sales of rare earth products

Refractory:  Manufacture and sales of refractory products

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities
For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group's
CODM monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following
bases:

Segment assets include all tangible and intangible assets,
and current assets with the exception of deferred tax
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15. D ERIRE (4)

a)

ITMER EEREE )

WARRX RS ELHBOBZHE
BERAXIRENBEEEEZNE
REBEASIB LAY DEEZED

#p o

EHHIEN(BR)MERZFTE
FEBMEAEMGRAE  BE - e
Ko e sH A% ] (48 T EEBITDA L) ©
A8 AZEBITDA - REEH 2%
A,/ (B8R gRIFEFEENZHRS
BEGZEBEHE—LAE WE
=R BEABeREMERDES
E

W15 A B 4C FEEBITDAZ & ED & #
SN REBEREBRRAMERM
BABRA(BESDHEEE)  E -
B BmoMEEEEIRTERR
EEZAMBERARME - REBE -
HEME BERZEZ R (6
B) HERBARIZKZE (E8)
RO EER LR 2 3ERE D
BERBZDHBER - »HHEAEES

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or

amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/(loss) is
“adjusted profit before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation” (“Adjusted EBITDA"). To arrive at the
Adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s profit/(loss) further
adjusted for items not specifically attributed to an
individual reportable segment, such as directors’
emoluments, auditor’'s remuneration and other

unallocated corporate expenses.

In addition to the receiving of segment information
concerning the Adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s CODM is
provided with segment information concerning revenue
(including inter-segment sales), depreciation,
amortisation, interest income and expenses from bank
balances and borrowings managed directly by the
segments, impairment losses, gain/(loss) on disposal of

property, plant and equipment, gain/(loss) on disposal of

a subsidiary and additions to non-current segment assets
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15. 2 &R & () 15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a) IHEE BEREEE a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)
FRRREATAREEREERRK Information regarding the Group's reportable segments
ARBIED B ﬁﬁ REFEDBRRZ A as provided to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of
SE2HSHERHINAT ¢ .

resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance for the year is as follows:
it fit X @t
Rare earth Refractory Total
eseF  CT-AF S8R SFAE CESRE CEAE
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
TER TERL TER TEL TER TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REHNZEZWMA  Revenue from external customers 809,120 691,918 303,197 326,617 1,112,317 1,018,535
PEEEA Inter-segment revenue 26 - - _ % _
ZHABRA Reportable segment revenue 809,146 691,918 303,197 326,617 1,112,343 1,018,535
ERGED:v Reportable segment profit
(48 ZERITDA) (Adjusted EBITDA) 25,693 34,803 44,350 49,123 70,043 83,926
1CON Interest income 2,247 2,425 2,929 2,904 5,176 5329
BB Finance costs - - 241 331 M 331
N% - BER&E Depreciation of property,
ZhE plant and equipment (17,220) (19,345) (14,681) (12,768) (31,901) (32,113)
EREEEZNE Depreciation of right-of-use assets (1,680) (1,647) (1,454) (1,426) (3,134) (3,073)

(%) /HETHIBE  Net impairment loss (recognised)/

(10,061) (4,208) (14,269)
(88) (169) (257)

1,297 1,297

1,572,622 1,957,309

4,708 391

545,609 187,221 732,836
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15. D EBIRE (@)

b)

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

ERSPBURA - BRREE - BEER b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue,
EEZHE profit or loss, assets and liabilities
S 35 —ZE-NF
2020 2019
FEx FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
A Revenue
2®/H WA Reportable segment revenue 1,112,343 1,018,535
WisE o B E U A Elimination of inter-segment revenue (26) =
N Consolidated revenue 1,112,317 1,018,535
s F R 1B Profit or loss
E/RD A Reportable segment profit 70,043 83,926
i 8H 93 B s Al S s 1R Elimination of inter-segment
profit or loss - -
REAEBHINEFZ Reportable segment profit derived
ERD BT from Group's external customers 70,043 83,926
FEWA Interest income 5,176 5,331
ME BERRE2TE Depreciation of property, plant and

(32,000)
(4,366)
(440)
(11,918)

26,495
(5,887)

20,608
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

ERIMBUA - BB E -EER b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue,
EEZHER(E) profit or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued)
—EC-EF —ZT-hF
2020 2019
FEx FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BE Assets
ERHBEE Reportable segment assets 3,529,931 3,291,158
Hib1 85 9 26 B e Uk =0 Elimination of inter-segment receivables (607,355) (570,802)
2,922,576 2,720,356
AoitRe kRS EEEE Unallocated cash and cash equivalents 713 1,761
RAOMEEEE Unallocated corporate assets 3,769 5,392
EEFIAE E Deferred tax assets 4,670 3,810
AU el IR Tax recoverable 785 737
HEBEERE Consolidated total assets 2,932,513 2,732,056
=K Liabilities
ERDIMEAE Reportable segment liabilities 732,836 683,654

(607,355)

125,481
15,970
6,493

147,944
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15. 2 B|E (&)
o HEEH
) KEHIEPLZKA
TEENEBAEERGEIET
PZWAFREMBHER - 8P
i R G 1 B 2 8 5

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
¢) Geographical information

i) Revenue from external customers

The following table sets out information about the

geographical location of the Group’s revenue from

external customers. The geographical location of

customers is based on the location at which the

goods were delivered.

—E-EF —E-NF

2020 2019

FHx FHT

HK$'000 HK$'000

R (REfff i 2) The PRC (place of domicile) 1,061,079 920,188
H A Japan 38,505 75,105
BN Europe 5,417 10,449
Hith Others 7,316 12,793
51,238 98,347

1,112,317 1,018,535
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15. 2 BWE (&)
0 HEEH(H)
i) BEERBEE(E)
ZERTIRYBEZHENE

HEZT-TF+-A=1+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
¢)  Geographical information (Continued)
i) Specified non-current assets (Continued)

The geographical locations of these specified

ERdlR N non-current assets are set out below:
—ECZEF —T-hF
2020 2019
TERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
R (R 2h) The PRC (place of domicile) 244,655 258,882
A Hong Kong 3,260 4,590
247,915 263,472

d HHRXEEFZEHR
RABREHIEE 2 MAGERERLZ
W A10%E A LT :

d) Information about major customers
Revenue from external customers individually

contributing 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue is

as follows:
i it a3t
Rare earth Refractory Total
“§-%F -I-NF  ZBCBE CI-NF ZBCBE CTNF
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

195,415 195,415
139,561 139,561

- 136,602
115,675 115,675
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16. BE 16. GOODWILL
FHET
HK$'000
2% Cost
RZZ-AE—HA—H At 1 January 2019 211,525
EHER Exchange differences (1,640)
R—ZF—AFE+=-_A=+—8 At 31 December 2019
F—E-_FTF—HF—H and 1 January 2020 209,885
EHEE Exchange differences 4,723
R-ZE-_ZTF+_-_A=+—H At 31 December 2020 214,608
Z5HRE Accumulated impairment
RZZE-—NF—HA—H At 1 January 2019 211,525
EHER Exchange differences (1,640)
P RZE-NAF+-_A=+—8H At 31 December 2019
= 3 ;r—_ZT-_ZTF—H—H and 1 January 2020 209,885
- w? EHER Exchange differences 4,723

214,608
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16. EE#) 16. GOODWILL (Continued)
HEARAEE WEBEH 28 TEXR
Name of subsidiary Date of acquisition Segment Principal activities
ESFRSREEERRAA(SABE] —TTNE iy 0 53 6 HERHERRBEED
—A=+AhB
Wuxi Xinwei High Temperature Ceramics Co., 29 January 2004 Refractory segment Manufacturing and sales of high
Ltd. (“High Temperature Ceramics"”) temperature ceramics products
BRTHEEEERAR ([FE5E]) —TThE i A 53 38 HERHEEVER
+=-A=t+=H8
Haicheng City Suhai Magnesium Ore 23 December 2005 Refractory segment ~ Manufacturing and sales of
Co., Ltd. (“Suhai Magnesium") magnesium products
WS REERREEBZREMELZ The goodwill arising from the acquisition of equity interests in
BEERUEFEFEL2EURE - High Temperature Ceramics and Suhai Magnesium has been

fully impaired in previous years.
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17. ¥ -BERSEE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

A3 BAERE
BRET HERRE REE RE ERIR BE
Buildings ~ Machinery Office
held for and  equipment Motor Construction-
ownuse  equipment and fixtures vehicles  in-progress Total
TART TART TART TART TAT TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
KA Cost
WZE-NE—HA—H  At1January 2019 241,537 741,603 8,230 15,751 - 1,007,121
nE Additions = 24,802 6 147 = 24,955
RE Disposal - (95,073) (28) (732) - (95,833)
EREZE Exchange differences (5,286) (15,457) (170) (339) - (21,252)
A\ZZ-nE At 31 December 2019
+-A=+-BR and 1 January 2020
—R-R5-H-H 236,251 655,875 8,038 14,827 - 914,991
hE Additions - 232 8 159 4,700 5,099
a5 RE Disposal - (48,492) (4,219) (457) - (53,168)
HERIREA Transfer from
- & “ construction-in-progress 606 - - - (606) -

15,236

40,686

57,354

252,093

648,301

924,276
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17. W% BERZRE @) 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
B BAERE
BREF HERRE REE RE ERIR e
Buildings ~ Machinery Office
held for and  equipment Motor Construction-
ownuse equipment and fixtures vehicles  in-progress Total

TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Rt FERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

RZZ-N%§-A-AH At 1 January 2019 193,029 610,006 1,876 14,052 - 824,963
REER Charge for the year 8,765 22,456 136 857 - 32,214
RERMD Written back on disposal - (86,724) (25) (732) - (87,481)
ERzE Exchange differences (4,320) (12,643) (169) (309) - (17,441)
RZZ-NE At 31 December 2019

+=A=Z+-Bk and 1 January 2020

“2-%%-f-AH 197,474 533,095 7,818 13,868 - 752,255
REFR Charge for the year 8,421 23,241 11 227 - 32,000
RERE Written back on disposal - (48,492) (4,219) (457) - (53,168)
Eiz2 Exchange differences 12,989 33,520 352 886 - 47,747
i a2 At 31 December 2020

+=ZA=1+-H 218,884 541,364 4,062 14,524 - 778,834

33,209 106,937 145,442
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18. ERAREEE 18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
HEL HEWE et
Leasehold Leased
lands properties Total
FAT FAET FHAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZZE—NAF—H—H At 1 January 2019 101,583 5,647 107,230
FRITERTIE (BIFEG)) Depreciation charge for
the year (note (i) (3,073) (1,232) (4,305)
EHEZR Exchange differences (2,189) = (2,189)
RZZE—NEF At 31 December 2019
+=—A=+—Hk and 1 January 2020
—Z_ZF—-A—H 96,321 4,415 100,736
F AT ER R (i 3E)) Depreciation charge for
the year (note (i) (3,134) (1,232) (4,366)
EXER Exchange differences 6,103 - 6,103
* 3 < AT _TF At 31 December 2020

..; +-A=+—8 99,290 3,183 102,473
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18. EABEE (#)

19.

EREEERESEERAGBAAIERSF
HREERAREERE) NFTHRITE -

RZE-_ZEFR-_ZFT—NF+=-RA=+—
B AEttiNhEAbHEERE -

() HFrEFFIEA553,0008 T (ZE—h&E:
542,0005% 7T) 53,813,000 T (Z 2 —f
F 13,763,000 7L) D RIFFABRE=Z =
TE+ AT AULEEGABERT
HERARBTEERA -

(i) R-ZTBE-_TFE+-_A=+—80 REHMELY
44,117,000 7t (= — L4 : 42,975,000
Br) B THELHERE T —KRITE
RIRITEE 2 E B o

MWEBARZRE
RZBZZEF+-A=+—8 K~AGEKH
BARZHBWT :

ARAL/ AL
KEAFEH ZHERAH

Place and date of

incorporation/
Name of subsidiary establishment

HEZT-TF+-A=1+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)
The right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the lease
terms.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, leasehold lands were
located in the PRC with medium-term leases.

Notes:

(i)  The depreciation charges of approximately HK$553,000 (2019:
HK$542,000) and HK$3,813,000 (2019: HK$3,763,000) were
included in cost of sales and administrative expenses,
respectively, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 December 2020.

(i) As at 31 December 2020, certain leasehold lands with carrying
amount of approximately HK$44,117,000 (2019:
HK$42,975,000) were pledged to a bank as collateral for
banking facilities.

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
As at 31 December 2020, the particulars of the Company’s
subsidiaries are as follows:

a

FERRELA 2
Proportion of ownership interest
RESNGE A58 ol L |
EENE RAzERE BREE  A0ARE MARE  EEER
Particulars of Effective
Place of issuedand ~ interest of Held by Held by
business  paid up capital  the Group the Company  asubsidiary  Principal activities
% % %
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19. IBRARAZEKRE (&) 19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

FRRERLA
Proportion of ownership interest
BRAL/ AL BRRCAR 450 -EHE
HRADEE PAEYEE: EELY RAz#E EREE  ADARE DERE  TEER
Place and date of Particulars of Effective
incorporation/ Place of issued and ~ interest of Held by Held by
Name of subsidiary establishment business  paid up capital  the Group the Company  asubsidiary  Principal activities
% % %
HIBER A (HiE(a)) il TG iHhEx 100 - 100 HEREEMAER
“AANELAZTR 17,000,000% 70
Leeshing Refractory (note (a)) The PRC The PRC ~ Registered capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and sales
30 July 1999 U§17,000,000 of refractory products
BRFARLHHERAT nE E Fidl}-u 100 - 10 EEZE(MiE)
(Mi3H@) “TE-E1-f-1A 852000057
Wuxi Xinwei Fluorescent Materials The PRC The PRC  Registered capital 100 - 100 Inactive (note (e))
Co., Ltd. (note (a)) 20 December 2001 5$8,520,000
HHERARAA 54 5 £} 100 - 0 E5EiES
~hANETAZT=R W
Microtech Resources Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong  Ordinary shares 100 - 100 Trading of rare earth
23 October 1998 HK$2 products
130 hERLERERART Bk Bk Lk 100 - 0 EE2E
ZTFEE-AC1RA AT
i . - China Rare Earth Trading Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong  Ordinary shares 100 - 100 Inactive
f,' 24 March 2000 HK§2
o "L
=i HRBE (i) 48 "8 i 100 - 0 HEREEREREER
. A “T32EMA-A 30,000,007
! High Temperature Ceramics The PRC The PRC ~ Registered capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and sales
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19. B AR Z2&RE (&) 19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
FERERLA
Proportion of ownership interest
BRAL/ AL BRTREME 450 -BHE
KELE4R ZHERAH EEHY RAz#E ERER  ADARE DNERE  TEER
Place and date of Particulars of Effective
incorporation/ Place of issued and ~ interest of Held by Held by
Name of subsidiary establishment business  paid up capital  the Group the Company  asubsidiary  Principal activities
% % %
SRARERAA (5 B Lk 100 - 0 REER
Z3-TETZARH 1A
Golden Mile Holdings Limited Hong Kong Note (d)  Ordinary share 100 - 100 Investment holding
6 December 2010 HK$1
ERFAARHEERERAA E e TER 100 - 0 HERREH
(BizHa) “E-\E-f-1=H (M)
Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Technology ~ The PRC The PRC /A 100 - 100 Not yet commenced
Development Co., Ltd. (note (a)) 23 February 2018 (note (f) business
Bt & Notes:
a)  AERAREAREEGI MK LA EE a)  These companies are registered under the laws of the PRC as
B wholly-owned foreign enterprises.
b) ZARRBRBIEAZEMEY BRI E b)  This company is registered under the laws of the PRC as a 131
BE-o sino-foreign equity enterprise.
0 ZARBRBEREEGFMKIABRER ¢)  This company is registered under the laws of the PRC as a limited
NG liability enterprise.

d ZERAAITERTEEIEZEEMBIRLE d)  These companies are investment holding companies which have
BERAR - no specific principal place of business.
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20. & 20. INVENTORIES
a) BRAUBRIRRZEESRE: a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial

position comprise:

e —ET-AF

2020 2019

THER FET

HK$'000 HK$'000

B Raw materials 23,267 20,180

EES Work in progress 70,686 72,214

EK & Finished goods 246,438 163,849

340,391 256,243

R-ZZE-_ZTF+_F=+—"H KA As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of

FTEBEERAFEZFEZERE inventories carried at fair value less cost to sell
517,048,000 7t (Z T — L4 amounting to HK$17,048,000 (2019: HK$25,198,000).

25,198,000 7T) °
b) HAABIIEESLHEIHWNAOT : b)  The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense is as follows:
ZBCEF —E-NF

993,722
42,770

1,036,492
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HEZT-TF+-A=1+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

21 ERERARREMERR BARE 21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

k& AND DEPOSITS

—BECEF —E-NF
2020 2019
FExT FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
7 U BR X Trade receivables 494,392 292,193
o EUWBR I Z R E SR Less: Impairment loss on trade receivables (36,513) (30,260)
8 U BR TR R Trade receivables, net 457,879 261,933
H fth FE UK Other receivables 5,879 4,903
B EMERR O REBE Less: Impairment loss on other receivables (2,380) (1,987)
H A e YRR R Other receivables, net 3,499 2,916
461,378 264,849

HEWSE  BERZEZ Consideration receivable from disposal of
R E property, plant and equipment - 15,062
H A TR B F IR Other tax refundable 31,469 33,126

492,847

598,497
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21, EWERR R EMEWRS BN RE 21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

k€ () AND DEPOSITS (Continued)
FEUERERIZ AR (HIRARRABES) The presentation of ageing analysis of the trade receivables
2 ZHREATNT based on the invoice date, which is approximate to the

revenue recognition date, is as follows:

—ECZEF —E-NF
2020 2019
TER FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
NMEAAA Less than 6 months 362,978 183,194
NAAZE—FUR 6 months to less than 1 year 105,762 80,841
—ZEWMELR 1 year to less than 2 years 10,495 5,800
ME E Over 2 years 15,157 22,358
494,392 292,193
B EURBR X 2 BB 5 1B Less: Impairment loss on trade receivables (36,513) (30,260)

134
457,879 261,933

. -
- ‘* RNBE-_E-_EER-_ZE—HLhE+_- A During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
- =
&2k =+ —HIEE AEEBLATHERETY Group allows an average credit period of 0 to 180 days to its
s &

! : NF0E180H 2 {ZEH] - customers.
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21 ERERARREMERR BARE 21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

kiz€ (&) AND DEPOSITS (Continued)
WEBEREB 2 ZESHHT The movements of loss allowances for impairment are as
follows:
FEWERR ZRE HAth W R Z R E
Impairment of Impairment of
trade receivables other receivables
ZB-EF _—_T-hE ZBZBF ZT-hF
2020 2019 2020 2019
TER FHET FERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R—A—H At 1 January 30,260 33,568 1,987 1,965
DR, (8@ )RME  Net impairment losses
E1BF5E recognised/(reversed) 14,269 (2,601) 257 66
Bl 88 A~ 7] U 2] k0B Written off as unrecoverable (10,099) - - -
EH=8R Exchange differences 2,083 (707) 136 (44)
RNt+t=—B=+—8” At 31 December 36,513 30,260 2,380 1,987 E.r—
REBERAEAMERELEDFEIFRARTE The Group applied the ECL model prescribed by HKFRS 9, and e
ZHEHEEEEER  BHEEEEER the impairment methodology of ECL model is set out in note
ZRERESHRHITE32(3) 32(a).
22. RERALEEEE 22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
—ECEE —E-NF

1,740,255
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23. BEMNRT - Bt REREMENSK 23. TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER
PAYABLES
—EEF —E-hEF
2020 2019
THER FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FENERR Trade payables 75,607 74,776
BIREBAREMERMK Accrued expenses and other payables 21,891 24,196
AHBE (M) Contract liabilities (note) 33,906 19,703
H i e FiIE Other tax payable 1,690 489
FE 5T FIE K H A FE < 5K Accruals and other payables 57,487 44,388
mEt Total 133,094 119,164
136 Mie: AHESBEFrEZEARRINHEERZE Note: The amounts primarily represent the advance payments from
PHEMRK- customers for sales of goods not yet delivered.
. -
_ * BRERREZAH2S| ZRRIMTAT The presentation of ageing analysis of the trade payables
‘: = 2l based on the invoice date is as follows:

39,698
6,410
5,039

24,460

75,607
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23. EREEZ -EHZEREMENS  23. TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER

(&) PAYABLES (Continued)
AHBaEzEHOT The movement of contract liabilities are as follows:
—EC-EF —ZT-hF
2020 2019
FHExT FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
n—A—H At 1 January 19,703 33,769
RENFAEBHNABZFR Revenue recognised during the year
EERIA that was included in contract liabilities

REWREmEN - T EHE
ERABBAZER
EHER

R+=A=+—~

24, EREERE

at the beginning of the year (20,318) (33,396)

Increase due to cash received, excluding

amounts recognised as revenue 32,849 19,921
Exchange differences 1,672 (591)
At 31 December 33,906 19,703

24. AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS

—B-%F —E-NF
2020 2019
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25. REREMBRRR 2B 25. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
a) HBRAUBMRRERZEMS (ATdE)F a) The movement of tax payable/(recoverable) in the
B2 EEMT consolidated statement of financial position are as
follows:

S 35 —ZE-NF
2020 2019
TER FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
MN—H—H At 1 January 3,099 5,890

RE FE R (PFE9()) Provision for the year (note 9(a))
—F RN EMERH - PRC Enterprise Income Tax 6,483 5,173

AEEBMNAEHR Income tax paid during the year
—HEPERBR — PRC Enterprise Income Tax (3,998) (7,917)
5,584 3,146
EHZER Exchange differences 124 (47)
.. 2 R+-A=+—8 At 31 December 5,708 3,099

. "?
. l. W& M BRRARERZ Tax recoverable recognised in
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25. REEHBRRERZAEHR (@) 25. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

b) ERRAZEERBLEEREE b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
CHRAEEMBEE/ (BB ZTE The major components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
MERER D R E BT recognised and movement thereon are as follows:

EUWERREAM
REEZEEHRE: ERRZHESSE

Impairment loss

on trade and

Deferred tax arising from: other receivables

T

HK$'000

RZZ-NE—A—H At 1 January 2019 =

BERIIZ (Fi9@)) Charged to profit or loss (note 9(a)) 3,852

EREE Exchange differences (42)

RZZ—NF+ZA=+—BR=ZZT=TF—HF—H  At31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 3,810
Ba 5% (M) Charged to profit or loss (note 9(a)) 596 o

ERER Exchange differences 264

R-Z-_ZTF+-A=+—H At 31 December 2020 4,670
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. REEMBRRRZAE/HR @

d)

MARRZELEREEE
BRER-_ZTZNF-A—BHRBERZ
REMEMERE  WENREKT
AEEEB TR ELRPERK
YRR AXEEEBRALIEER R
AARBEIR S A E S EE - Al E
REEEBHRA (WREREZKRE)
RI0% M EHMTEMFAEH - RZF
ENFZAZ+ZH UBIRER
19 75 48 B 4t /6 BT #5(2008)15% - R Ut
R-ZET+F+-_A=+—HABEI
BERBHEMEL 2R E DK E
BRBMEMMER -

RZEZEF+-_A=+—H AH#
REBRIZHERARIE ST N\F
CAPEGENZ2ERZEEZNA
491,305,000 T (Z T — N4 ¢

430,365,000/ 7T) © F R AN & B B 4%
HZEWBRARZREBE i
HERZREREEER BRATRE
mTkT%%@§ﬁ§E B8 R

25. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law with effect
from 1 January 2008 onwards, non-resident enterprises
without an establishment or place of business in the PRC
or which have an establishment or place of business but
the relevant income is not effectively connected with the
establishment or a place of business in the PRC, will be
subject to withholding income tax at the rate of 10% on
various types of passive income such as dividends derived
from sources in the PRC. On 22 February 2008, the
Ministry of Finance and State Administration of Tax
approved Caishui (2008) No.

dividend distributions out of retained profits of foreign

1, pursuant to which

investment enterprises prior to 31 December 2007 will be

exempted from withholding income tax.

As at 31 December 2020, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries established in
the PRC since 2008 amounted to approximately
HK$491,305,000 (2019: HK$430,365,000). Deferred tax
liabilities of approximately HK$49,131,000 (2019:
HK$43,037,000) have not been recognised in respect of
these temporary differences as the Group is able to

control the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and in
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26. HE&EE 26. LEASE LIABILITIES
—EC-EF —ZT-hF
2020 2019
FHT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
EREEEE: Lease liabilities payables:
—FR Within 1 year 1,243 1,181
—FERERFEA After 1 year but within 2 years 1,308 1,243
MERBERFA After 2 years but within 5 years 794 2,102
3,345 4,526
B ORBBEETET Less: Amounts due for settlement
R+ —EAREIEEE 208 within 12 months shown
under current liabilities (1,243) (1,181)
JEREEEE AT Amounts due for settlement after
R+=@AZEHHERE KA 12 months shown under
non-current liabilities 2,102 3,345
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27. RAR#E 27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES
a) AEEGAERZZZEIBORFEIR a) The reconciliation between the opening and closing
FREGZHEENGARIZEHR balances of each component of the Group's consolidated
N BEEARR R ZERIEMDRF equity is set out in the consolidated statement of
NEFRBPEZEHFBFHRINOT changes in equity. Details of the changes in the

Company'’s individual components of equity between the

beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

KRRHEAERE
Attributable to owners of the Company
& B3 E 2t ER e
Share Share  Accumulated

capital premium losses Total
THL FEL TEL THEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZF-1E—-A—H At 1 January 2019 234,170 2,243,256 (44,852) 2,432,574

ZE-NEEREY: Changes in equity for 2019:

142 i
AEEER Loss for the year - - (13,012) (13,012)
e AEEEME AN Other comprehensive income for the year - - - -
- "?

s rEERAERAE Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (13,012) (13,012)
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27. BAR#E (&) 27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES(Continued)
b) EEREEITRAE b) Authorised and issued share capital
B4 EE S8
Number of
shares Amount
TR FHT
‘000 HK$'000
R EEO. 1078702 EEK Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
EE Authorised
RZFE—NFE—HA—H" At 1 January 2019,
—E-NAF+-_A=+t-HK 31 December 2019, and
—E-_ZEF+-_A=+—H 31 December 2020 4,000,000 400,000
ERTRABE Issued and fully paid
RZE—-NF—A—A8" At 1 January 2019,
A&+ -_A=t+-HK 31 December 2019, and
—ZE_ZFE+-_A=1—H 31 December 2020 2,341,700 234,170
LTERFEAGEESTEE R 2K The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive E.r—
BERARAREZFZEER—ZE2 dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled 1
TERE AL EIRY ARG 2 F to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All 143
BEHZAHEEER - ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the

Company'’s residual assets.

0 REZMHEERAEMW c) Nature and purpose of reserves
) RGOBE i) Share premium
RIEEASE S AR (KB - Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman

% 17 34 18 BR |] {79k F AR 2 Rl A% Islands, the share premium account is distributable
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-ZZT-_TF+-A=1—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

o fEEZMEREHE
i) B
EXGREARERESEEER
MEERMMZDEEAERHEZ
B

iii)  EERE
BREBANBEEZEHES IR
AR P BRI R RA
AFARBBERIZHBRATZA
RERMEL  YEHEEZE
S5

EERESTRARKEBTEFE
ZEB(WME) TAERATKRE
A MERETHERE 2 AT R
BEEHRTBIREEBEIMER
225% °

ARBETRFEZHMBEARZA
REREREE R EERRDE
EARARRPEE 2HMZ
10%  EEZFBESHESEM

9]

27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES(Continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

ii)

fii)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the capitalised
aggregate appropriations to the statutory reserves
made by the Group as a result of group

reorganisation.

Statutory reserves

Transfers from retained earnings to statutory reserve
fund were made in accordance with the relevant
PRC rules and regulations and the articles of
association of the Company’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC and were approved by the

respective boards of directors.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to offset
previous years' losses, if any, and may be converted
into paid-up capital provided that the balance of
the statutory reserve fund after such conversion is

not less than 25% of the entity’s registered capital.

The Company's certain subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to transfer a minimum of 10% of their net

profits, as determined in accordance with the PRC

accounting rules and regulations to the statutory
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27. RAR % @)

d)

e)

HEEZITHIIRER
R-ZZE-_ZEF+-_A=+—H 7§
DIRTARBEBAZRNRRRER
R #)7/52,172,563,0008 T (ZE— A
4 :2,185,392,000/8 ) * B IE
A B AR i (B 492,243,256,000% 7T
(ZZ— A4 1 2,243,256,000/8 ) &
K $5 2 51 E5 18 £970,693,00078 7T (=
T— N4 57,864,000/87T) ° ZE
BRAEL DR EHEEZSRRE
ZH ARRMBEENEERAE
¥BPIHNEE - FREELDIR -

BEXER
AEEEREAZTIEZRRDRER
SERBEREZENARBRRERED
BLEAMREREARS  Y#RT
B2 ERERBARLESKA -

AGEgEBREHENRERLE
AZRE DERARERSBRRD®RE
REEAMRRAAZ ZBBERKF
TRNFERREZERGTE X
BB MO 2 BB A A RBIE
EREBARARRINZBE SR
BT REEATRRIHLESR
EARLE °

HE-_ZT-TF+-A=+—HILFEZ For the year ended 31 December 2020

27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES(Continued)

d)

e)

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of the
Company’s reserves available for distribution to owners
of the Company was approximately HK$2,172,563,000
(2019: HK$2,185,392,000) which included the
Company's share premium of approximately
HK$2,243,256,000 (2019: HK$2,243,256,000), and
offsetting with accumulated losses of approximately
HK$70,693,000 (2019: HK$57,864,000). These reserves
are available for distribution provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed,
the Company will be able to pay off its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefit for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher stakeholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return

145
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28. BREE 28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

RIE-—NFERARNBETZRRERBFER
gL RRA BRI E RN — BB R
B (MEist8l)) - B RMBMEST+
FHM-

REBRETE  ARARESARHEAE
BzBRIMEREMEBABEERZE
EMAL BEALAKEMBAR ZE
EOEABRR - RER TP FHEM -
B A ER sk R A B R A % AT Bl R
BGEHZRRTREIBRERBEARRR
- AERZAEREERRE ZBRE
XNEBARE - BREARARAES
ERHEBOBMEEREETEARAZ
HEAEAERTE ETFERZER
BREHAEF+F BB U ERER
BEE TR RRL -

BEEREFE TERH 2 EREET
BB TETZROEE %% 5167,264,305
Hﬁ °

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 6 June
2014, the shareholders of the Company approved the
adoption of a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”), which will be valid for 10 years from the date of its

adoption.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the directors of the Company
may grant share options to eligible persons, including directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries, any of its shareholders,
suppliers, customers, consultants, advisers and joint venture
partners or business alliance who have contributed or will
contribute to the development and growth of the Group, to
take up options to subscribe for shares in the Company subject
to the terms and conditions stipulated therein. A nominal
consideration will be paid by eligible participants for each lot
of share options granted. An option may be exercised at any
time during a period to be determined and identified by the
directors of the Company to each grantee at the time of
making the offer, but in any event, shall not exceed the period
of 10 years from the date of grant of the particular option,

subject to the early termination of the Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of shares to be issued upon the exercise
of options that may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is 167,264,305 Shares.
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29. ERBEEALIRS 29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
a) HEBEALIZRS a) Transactions with related parties
MZEEAUBREREMTTHE In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
ZRGRERIN RRAEERR elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the
THABEZE-_Z_ZFER_ZT—h#F directors of the Company consider that the followings
T A=+ —BLEEEAAREEF Y are the material related party transactions entered into by
ZERBEALRS: the Group during the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019:
BEALER BAKEZBE RHME ZBIBE  —Z-NE
2020 2019
Relationship THER FTHT
Name of related party with the Group Nature of transaction HK$’000 HK$'000
BRERE ARRHITES AEEENREEBMBREE
BIE165; R AR SR X 829 813
Mr. Jiang Quanlong Executive director of Expenses relating to short-term
the Company leases under HKFRS 16 paid
by the Group 829 813 h- _
ARABEERE LARZ TR —RK The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the 147
E¥BBREPREREZSR I 2= above transactions were entered into under the normal
{&RETAL » course of business and in accordance with the terms of

the agreements governing such transactions.

b) BHXEEBAEZRS b) Transactions with key management personnel

1B A8
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30. &iE 30. COMMITMENTS
R-B-_ZTF+-_A=+—HB K£EH At as 31 December 2020, the Group had capital commitment
BYE BERIBEZREREEZER] in respect of the acquisition and construction of property,
HB KRB B A EIEL A534,0008 7T (= plant and equipment contracted but not provided for of
Z-NFE) - approximately HK$534,000 (2019: Nil).
31, REFEsZEMIA 31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES
RNEREHER ZEFERIACZERE The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
HHN T - instruments at the end of each reporting period are as follows:
—EC-EF —E-NF
2020 2019
FEx TET
HK$’000 HK$'000
SREE Financial assets
JE U BR 3R Trade receivables 457,879 261,933
H A & R Other receivables 3,879 2,916
HEWH  BERZEZ Consideration receivable from disposal
m R AE of property, plant and equipment - 15,062
o RekBeFHEIEAR Cash and cash equivalents 1,740,255 1,478,953
- "? w e s : :
& Lo REHEKATECECREE Financial assets measured at

! amortised cost 2,202,013 1,758,864

75,607
21,891
5,012
3,345
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2. BHEEREEREMIAECATFE

ERTAZERBEASEERTEXKB
BRELZEERR RBHESER F
Xk E¥Ek - AEEAZEZERR
MR R A EEERZERRAMKA N
BEREZBRREHIHIR T -

a) FERR
FERBREXRZIHFELBITANER
TERAEETHEBEZRAR - N&E
EFERREEREERER  Hit
FEWRRETHEG - EEEEEEE
BER  WHEBERZZEERR -

RABB R FHEEER
TREIMMTZA=Z+—BEREE
EEERRNEEERR&EAEER
B ITERBAHEHN RFEEFE
SMRARB A ESHEMER)
RERBBEDE -

HEZT-TF+-A=1+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The risks associated with the financial instruments include

credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk

arise in the normal course of the Group’s business. The

Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk

management policies and practices used by the Group to

manage these risks are described below.

a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group's credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade receivables, other
receivables and bank balances. Management has a credit
policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are

monitored on an ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 December.
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2. XAKEERSMIAZATE 32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

(%) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
a) EERERK(E) a) Credit risk (Continued)
RAE g RFELEER () Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
et XS
2020
T=fA
B8
FEBR
12-month BEFEN2ABEERR
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
£-RE F-ER  EZER  Btr: @zt
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
TR TR TR TR TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
JE U BR 3K Trade receivables - - - 457,879 457,879
H b K Other receivables 3,879 - - - 3,879
RITEE 5 Bank balances 1,740,229 - - - 1,740,229
1,744,108 - - 457,879 2,201,987
—E-NF

2019
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2. XAKMEERSMIAZATE
(&)

a) fEERK(E)

i)

AREEBRERKERZEER
B-EEEBEINY-BREER
R YHEREERARETHE
ERX -ARESEHHEIEER
B 2 B iR R ETTE AR
- ZREFEHHEPBESN
FMHAEZEL R B B Z X T8
N AEREFHEEMRER
REMBEBRAZER - A%
B3 L H S B A BRI
e

o

REBEEAZ ZEERBREER
EEFPZERERZE - BF
T8 & 17 % R B R 2 ¥ R & B2 71
SHEERRAMYE BRE
BIE - RS MR - BUERZRE
BH01% (ZE—NF : 14.8%)
568.5% (ZF— 15 : 73.8%

HEZT-TF+-A=1+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
a) Credit risk (Continued)

i)

Trade receivables

In respect of trade receivables, in order to minimise
credit risk, the management has a credit policy in
place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations
of its customers’ financial position and conditions
are performed on each major customer periodically.
These evaluations focus on the customers’ past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customers as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customers
operate. The Group does not require collateral in

respect of its financial assets.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The default risk of the industry and the
country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the
end of the reporting period, 0.1% (2019: 14.8%)
and 68.5% (2019: 73.8%) of the total trade
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2. MERAKEEREMIAZATE 32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

(&) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
a) fERK(E) a) Credit risk (Continued)
i) /’g WS () i) Trade receivables (Continued)

BiEERREEHREMRE
Eﬂ%@:fﬁ ﬁ?ﬁ%ﬂk/ﬂﬁmxémﬂ
BENREE R-_T_TFR
:ﬁ—ﬂiﬂ—:ﬁ:ﬂ——ﬁ PR
SEREARHEEAKBEAZEE

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position
after deducting any impairment loss. As at 31
December 2020 and 2019, the Group did not

[EV B B (E AT HE AR © provide any guarantees which would expose the
Group to credit risk.
AEBIREBESVEHREERE The Group assesses lifetime ECLs for trade

95k AT il R MR AR 3K 2 BB B
ZHEHEEEE  UERRELE
BRI R SR R B E
EHRIZRERBE - EER
AZBBREREHREEERER
BEARN 2 BEREETER K

receivables under HKFRS 9 to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for significant increase
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring. The
ECLs on trade receivables are assessed for debtors
individually or collectively using a provision matrix
with appropriate groupings. As part of the Group's

152 SR - EAXEEEFEERR credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’
BBz MG AEBFEREBEBA ageing to assess with the impairment loss because
. -

2RI ERERBR - TR %
EERFPERAERAARER S
WEPF  MZEARBHEAREP
RIES M GERB BT R ERA
HIBEN - At BIRE D ERER

these customers consist of a large number of
customers which share common risk characteristics
that are representative of the customers’ abilities to
pay all amounts due in accordance with the

contractual terms. The estimated loss rates are
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2. XAKMEERSMIAZATE 32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

(#)

a) fEER ()

i)

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
a) Credit risk (Continued)

JEW BR . (4E) i) Trade receivables (Continued)
TRIEHAEBAEBEREWERER The following table provides information about the
frAEEERR LEHEEESIE Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
ZER receivables:
ZECE2E
2020
REEEER REAE HEZHERE
Expected  Gross carrying  Loss allowances
loss rate amount  for impairment
TEx TEx
HK$'000 HK$'000
BE (Rmae) Current (not yet past due) 1.74% 246,674 4,304
BEIRAER Less than 6 months past due 7.08% 222,066 15,718
BaHRBAEAEIRN-F More than 6 months but less
than 1 year past due 9.39% 8,335 783
BHBE-FEIRRE More than 1 year but less
than 2 years past due 25.51% 2,160 551
jakiaelaks Over 2 years past due 100% 15,157 15,157
494,392 36,513
ZE-0E

2019
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32. WBEAREEREMIAZATE

(%)

a) fEEER ()

i)

i)

. : b)

JEK S ()
FHEBERXIRBEBEMNFNE
REREREH REFLEEE
HAEARREREE L BEN
ERTE 0 AR B ~ & RTAR R R A
SEYHEKRFAERBEHFROL
BRAANEHNER -

ERAEERBRERRZEE
R — B RBEEHNM T
21

TR AR

AREEREEEFIREZENS
MEBERREEERR - &R
ROEEFRRE EEERA
EREFHHTETETHAL

REE SRR

e AGEETZBUZEERARRH

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
a) Credit risk (Continued)

i)

ii)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past 2 years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the
historical data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the

receivables.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade

receivables are set out in note 21.

Bank balances

The Group mitigates its exposure to credit risk by
placing deposits with financial institutions with
established credit rating. Given the high credit
ratings of the banks, the management does not
expect any counterparty to fail to meet its

obligations.

b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
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2. MBEAREEREMIAZATE

()

b)

RBESER (F)

TR AKEZERABERREH
R ERANABERBE2RE (B
ERAOFEFBRZMENKE - W
BIEE ABRBERRZAEN) R
AEEAKBRERZZF ARG
ZHTEKE

HEZT-TF+-A=1+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables set out the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest

date the Group can be required to pay:

b 22
2020
RHARRAERM
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—FAF —E#{E MERE
REXMHE MER nER @t REE
More than ~ More than
Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but
1 year or less than less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
TER TER TERT TET TERT
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

L emAR

liabilities

Non-derivative financial

75,607 75,607 75,607

21,891 21,891 21,891
5,012 5,012 5,012
1,379 3,563 3,345

103,889 106,073 105,855
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2. XAKEERSMIAZATE 32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

(48) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
by RBELRER (&) b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
—T-NF
2019
ANAERELR

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

—FRE —F%E MERIE
REXER MER LFR @t BmE
More than More than
Within Tyearbut 2 years but
1 year or less than less than Carrying

on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
THEL THEL FHEL THEL THEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FTELRAR Non-derivative financial
liabilities
JEf 3t Trade payables 74,776 - - 74,776 74,776
BREAREMENT Accrued expenses and
- > other payables 24196 - - 24196 24196
? EREZHE Amounts due to directors 2,921 = = 2,921 2,921
oy e pa. REAE Lease liabilities 1379 1379 2,184 4,942 4,526
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2. XAKMEERSMIAZATE 32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

(#8) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

o FERER ¢) Interest rate risk
AEBZAERKREERERE LR The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from cash
CEEER -ARRERREFEE and cash equivalents. The Group does not anticipate
BZ2HMEBHIEERES AR significant interest rate risk to cash and cash equivalents
SEERETIEFEEE AT ERMRE because the interest rates of these balances are not

expected to change significantly.

D) FIEAE i) Interest rate profile
TRAMAFHIAEBEHR G RIE The following table details the interest rate profile
SEEEERREHRNFERA of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents at the end
& s of the reporting period:
= == L ZT-NEF
2020 2019
BERF= TER BIRA = FET
Effective Effective
interest rate HK$'000 interest rate HK$'000

Be RHEEHEHEE Cash and cash equivalents 0%-0.3% 1,740,255 0%-0.3% 1,478,953
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. BEEREERERIACZATE

(%)

o FEmEE ()

i)

HREEA T
RZZTZZEF+-A=+—H"

T fhEFIRERE A TS0
BRI, ROAEBRF
EBRBERNRRD g MAE
E 25T F518 496,867,000/ 7T (=
T — L4 5,822,000 ) © F
REE AN TGS ERA
Htahp i |2 o

E i SR E D AT THAR IR B S 5
RFIEAREZNERBRMEE - B
AN RERHRE IR Z R E
BeRMTIARBESE MARESR
MRS o SOEER AR TRA
RPBREZERASERRAER
BAERAZES TABEREY
FEROEER LB MTRE - =
T-NFEUBREEEL ST

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
c¢) Interest rate risk (Continued)

ii)

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2020, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 50 basis points in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
would increase/decrease the Group’s profit after
taxation for the year and decrease/increase the
Group’s accumulated losses by approximately
HK$6,867,000 (2019: HK$5,822,000). Other
components of consolidated equity would not be
changed in response to the general increase or

decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. The 50 basis points increase or
decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and

represents management’s assessment of the

reasonably possible changes in interest rates. The
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32. MEAKEEREMIAZATE 32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

(&) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

d) E%ER d)  Currency risk
AEBTEANEAEEEEETEND The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
BEEE AN G ETEEMELE sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
KH - ERREE2MREEEEE payables, and cash and cash equivalents that are
mMEHEERE EREERRZE denominated in a currency other than the functional
BErEZAETT([ET]) - currency of the group entities to which they relate. The

currency giving rise to currency risk is primarily United
States dollars (“US$").

D) TR EZREREE i) Exposure to currency risk
TRAFAEEGR R AEEE The following table details the Group's exposure to
ERAB I EEIAINE currency risk arising from recognised assets or
BZERREEXEEMAER liabilities denominated in a currency other than the
KRR o functional currency of the group entities to which
they relate.
FEE 2 AR £5 %5t B
Exposure to currency risk us$ us$ 159

—BCEF —ZET—nF
2020 2019
THERT FET

HK$'000 HK$'000




i 6 B85 = B 5
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-ZZT-_TF+-A=1—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. MERAKEEREMIAZATE 32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

(&) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
d) E¥EK (&) d) Currency risk (Continued)
i) RS i) Sensitivity analysis

TRINRAERZ BFE ST & The following table indicates the instantaneous
RN EEREAEBRREHRK change in the Group's profit after taxation and
EHEKRER 2 INEEENZA accumulated losses that would arise if foreign
ARt R ARSI MR EE exchange rates to which the Group has significant
2E8E  WRHRTHEMRRZEH%E exposure at the end of the reporting period had
FRE - changed at that date, assuming all other risk

variables remained constant.

BRB &R BRBL IR A
2/ (WD) i/ ORb)

SHEER REFHR SMEIE X REFBR
#m/(B4) ®WLH/0EM)  #ZM/0RP) RS/ (M)

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) in (decrease) in

profit after profit after

Increase/  taxation and Increase/ taxation and

(decrease) decrease/ (decrease) decrease/

in foreign (increase) in in foreign (increase) in

m exchange  accumulated exchange  accumulated
. rates losses rates losses

Y - i —E-hE
A, 2020 2019
‘4 FHT BT
il - HK$'000 HK$'000

EV Us$ 5% 79 5% 420
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32. MEAKEEREMIAZATE 32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

(4&) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

e) AFEFE e) Fair value measurement
HNFEUNEEFSEZ 2BEER Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at
BEZAFE other than fair value
RZZEZEFR=ZZT—NF+=A The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
=+—B  AEERKASEFEKA instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are not
HECERMIAZERAENRSE ZA materially different from their fair values as at 31
FHEHITEERNESR- December 2020 and 2019.

33. MEEBFELEBEZHIE 33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

TRFWAEEREEHFFELABZE The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities

F BEREEIERSEH BETIHAM arising from financing activities, including both cash and

EXBENREREERIARBESRE non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities

BRGERERERIBARETHEE are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will

ZHERE be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as

cash flows from financing activities.

HEEE BRERE it
Lease Discounted
liabilities bills Total
TiET T T B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZ-N&—-A—H At 1 January 2019 5,647 - 5,647
REREREZ2E: Changes from financing cash flows:
ENRERS AR R Capital element of lease rentals paid (1,121) = (1,121)
ERRERS 2RISR Interest element of lease rentals paid (257) = (257)
BAF A Interest paid - (331) (331)

(1,181) (1,181)
(199) (199)
- (241)
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34. REEEZMBRRE

34. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION
—E-EF —E—-NF
2020 2019
s FEx FHET
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
Bl Equipment 77 175
CREEE Right-of-use assets 3,183 4.415
WMBARZKE Investments in subsidiaries 19 151,707 151,707
154,967 156,297
REBEE Current assets
BNRERES Prepayments and deposits 510 800
JiE T B BB 1 B FRE Amounts due from subsidiaries 2,264,089 2,272,993
RekREFHEER Cash and cash equivalents 326 856
2,264,925 2,274,649
nBAE Current liabilities
FEETFIE K H b B Accruals and other payables 7,612 6,312
JENEE B Amounts due to directors 1,931 292
JEE {5FFfY BB 2 B ZB Amounts due to subsidiaries 271 254
HEBRE Lease liabilities 1,243 1,181
11,057 8,039
REBEEZRE Net current assets 2,253,868 2,266,610
BEEAERABAR Total assets less current liabilities 2,408,835 2,422,907

2,406,733

234,170
2,172,563

2,406,733
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35. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31

35. RBE-ZE-_ZEF+=-A=+—H
LEECHEAEESRERZBITER
A EARRBZUKEE

BEUSHEAMEREATEAY BES
AHASCEMTIRBE-_T_FF
tTZA=+t—-RLFEHAEHATER

WELRA B RERPRANET AR
R AR BENA T A EREEERHE -

FEREER ZBTA BRNBREEA-F-N\ER
CRCTEIERRE
BRUBRERNEN FoERRR
BiTA
BRGENEIGRZETA  NE BERRE: HeRdH
e

BRGHENRRLETE  BREDH-RHHA

BRI ENRNLEIE  REDBARYUFRY
BRGHEAS6K2ETE  Covid-19MBREES!
BRMBASRAZ R T
BRETENSR BRME NERENE-F_RR
REENF4E  BRMK

REENETH  BEMK

REENFORRERYH

REENR 6T LBTR

ERNBAREAR0NR  RAZRABELAZARLR

DECEMBER 2020

Up to the date of issuance of these consolidated financial

statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments

and new standards which are not yet effective for the year

ended 31 December 2020 and which have not been adopted

in these consolidated financial statements. These include the

following which may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to Annual
Improvements Project
Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 16
HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 39,

HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 '

Reference to the Conceptual Framework '

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
Before Intended Use !

Onerous Contract - Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract '
Classification of Liabilities as Current or -

Non-current °
163

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions *
Insurance Contracts °
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 °

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
HE+-A=1t—-HLEE
For the year ended 31 December
—EEf —T—NF ZE-N\F ZT—tF —T—RF
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
FTER FHET FET FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 1,112,317 1,018,535 902,095 637,162 709,120
SHE KA Cost of sales (1,036,492) (941,427) (841,667) (611,531) (704,190)
EF Gross profit 75,825 77,108 60,428 25,631 4,930
%R BT 7 (B518) Profit/(loss) before taxation 26,495 40,908 921 (79,402) (98,403)
REY g Income tax charge (5,887) (1,321) (8,297) (5,379) (9,473)
REF M (E18) Profit/(loss) for the year 20,608 39,587 (7,376) (84,781) (107,876)
FE1h Attributable to:

KRAREB A Owners of the Company 19,710 38,885 (5,424) (82,839) (104,242)
FEPR IR i Non-controlling interests 898 702 (1,952) (1,942) (3,634)
20,608 39,587 (7,376) (84,781) (107,876)

T HH=Aztos

As at 31 December

< —E-_FF —E-NF ZE-N\F ZET—+F ZE—XKF

3 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

. P FHRL FHT FHT FHT T
& 5 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

'J- 1 MEEE Current assets 2,679,928 2,464,774 2,472,316 2,512,509 2,434,619
i ERBEE Non-current assets 252,585 267,282 297,941 409,082 480,382

2,932,513 2,732,056

145,842
2,102
147,944
2,784,569

234,170
2,542,911

2,777,081
7,488

2,784,569
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